



King's Research Portal

DOI: 10.1007/JHEP09(2017)111

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication record in King's Research Portal

Citation for published version (APA): Gromov, N., Levkovich-Maslyuk, F., & Sizov, G. (2017). New Construction of Eigenstates and Separation of Variables for SU(N) Quantum Spin Chains. *JHEP*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP09(2017)111

Citing this paper

Please note that where the full-text provided on King's Research Portal is the Author Accepted Manuscript or Post-Print version this may differ from the final Published version. If citing, it is advised that you check and use the publisher's definitive version for pagination, volume/issue, and date of publication details. And where the final published version is provided on the Research Portal, if citing you are again advised to check the publisher's website for any subsequent corrections.

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the Research Portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognize and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

•Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the Research Portal for the purpose of private study or research. •You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain •You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the Research Portal

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact librarypure@kcl.ac.uk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: May 13, 2017 ACCEPTED: August 18, 2017 PUBLISHED: September 25, 2017

New construction of eigenstates and separation of variables for ${ m SU}(N)$ quantum spin chains

Nikolay Gromov,^{*a,b*} Fedor Levkovich-Maslyuk^{*c*,1} and Grigory Sizov^{*d*}

- a Mathematics Department, King's College London,
- The Strand, London WC2R 2LS, U.K.

- Gatchina, 188 300, St.Petersburg, Russia
- ^cNordita, KTH Royal Institute of Technology and Stockholm University, Roslagstullsbacken 23, SE-106 91 Stockholm, Sweden
- dLPT, Ecole Normale Superieure, 24 rue Lhomond 75005 Paris, France E-mail: nikgromov@gmail.com, fedor.levkovich@gmail.com, grisha.sizov@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: We conjecture a new way to construct eigenstates of integrable XXX quantum spin chains with SU(N) symmetry. The states are built by repeatedly acting on the vacuum with a single operator $B^{good}(u)$ evaluated at the Bethe roots. Our proposal serves as a compact alternative to the usual nested algebraic Bethe ansatz. Furthermore, the roots of this operator give the separated variables of the model, explicitly generalizing Sklyanin's approach to the SU(N) case. We present many tests of the conjecture and prove it in several special cases. We focus on rational spin chains with fundamental representation at each site, but expect many of the results to be valid more generally.

KEYWORDS: Bethe Ansatz, Lattice Integrable Models

ARXIV EPRINT: 1610.08032



^bSt. Petersburg INP,

 $^{^{1}} Alternative \ email: \ fedor.levkovich.maslyuk@su.se.$

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Notation and basic definitions	3
3	Eigenstates and SoV for the $SU(2)$ spin chain	5
	3.1 Algebraic Bethe ansatz and SoV in the $SU(2)$ case	5
	3.2 Implementation for the $SU(2)$ spin chain	7
	3.3 The scalar product in the SoV representation	9
4	Eigenstates for SU(3) spin chains from SoV	11
	4.1 The B operator	11
	4.2 Application to spin chains and construction of eigenstates	12
	4.3 Tests of the proposal for eigenstates	14
	4.4 Construction with dual roots	15
	4.5 The spectrum of separated variables	16
5	Extension to the $\mathrm{SU}(N)$ case	17
	5.1 The <i>B</i> operator for $SU(4)$	18
	5.2 Generalization to any $SU(N)$	20
	5.3 Free parameters in the construction	22
	5.4 Eigenvalues of separated variables	22
6	Conclusions and future directions	23
A	Proving the construction of eigenstates for a generic matrix K in the $(III(2))$	
	SU(2) case	26
в	Derivation of the norm for $SU(2)$ spin chains	29
	B.1 Ratio of the norms	29
	B.2 Product of the norms	31
\mathbf{C}	The B operator for $\mathrm{SU}(N)$ with $N=2,3,4,5$	34

1 Introduction

Integrable quantum spin chains are among the most famous exactly solvable models in mathematical physics. In addition to exhibiting rich mathematical structures, they have found diverse applications ranging from condensed matter physics to supersymmetric gauge theories and string theory. The key feature of these spin chains is a powerful hidden symmetry which in particular allows one to obtain eigenvalues of the spin chain Hamiltonian in terms of the Bethe ansatz equations [1] (see e.g [2–6] for pedagogical reviews). At the same time, the problem of efficiently describing the spin chain eigenstates is much more difficult and has been the subject of active investigation over many years. A renewed interest in this problem stems from the appearance of higher rank (super-)spin chains in the context of computing correlation functions in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory with the use of integrability (see e.g. [7–11] and the review [12]). Only for the simplest spin chains, which are based on the SU(2)-invariant R-matrix, can the states be obtained in a direct and compact way. In this case the algebraic Bethe ansatz approach allows one to build the eigenstates by acting on a reference state with a "creation operator" B(u). We found that similar operators $B^{good}(u)$ can be constructed for any SU(N) spin chain, so that the eigenstates are given by

$$|\Psi\rangle = B^{\text{good}}(u_1)B^{\text{good}}(u_2)\dots B^{\text{good}}(u_M)|0\rangle \tag{1.1}$$

where u_k are the Bethe roots. Furthermore, in constrast with the standard SU(2) construction for B(u), our $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ is diagonalizable and is suitable for immediate application of the separation of variables (SoV) approach as we describe below. We provide an explicit expression for this operator as a polynomial in the monodromy matrix entries.

Our formula (1.1) provides a concise and compact alternative to all the existing techniques for construction of the eigenstates. The most transparent method to obtain the states available in the literature is the *nested* algebraic Bethe ansatz approach, in which the eigenvectors are built recursively based on the solution of a lower rank spin chain [13– 15]. Other known constructions include an explicit representation via sums over partitions of Bethe roots [16], as well as the rather sophisticated trace formulas of [17] and the Drinfeld current construction [18–23] (see also [24–27]). These methods have been explored in-depth and have facilitated numerous calculations of various observables such as form factors and scalar products [23, 28–37]. Nevertheless in all of these approaches the expression for the states has a rather involved structure as well as being hard to implement computationally in many situations.¹ In contrast to the nested Bethe ansatz, our construction involves no recursion and is also free from many of the complications inherent in other methods.

Although in the SU(N) Bethe ansatz there are several types of Bethe roots, in the examples we considered it is just the momentum-carrying Bethe roots which should be plugged into the B^{good} operators in (1.1) to construct the states. The auxiliary Bethe roots enter the construction only indirectly, via the usual Bethe equations which determine the positions of the momentum-carrying roots.² Thus our construction is also free from the ambiguity associated with different possible choices of one set of Bethe ansatz equations out of the N! equivalent possibilities (corresponding to different paths in the Hasse diagram).

¹In particular, the result usually involves sums over partitions of Bethe roots or sums over states of an auxiliary spin chain, leading to exponentially many terms for highly excited states.

 $^{^{2}}$ In fact the Bethe ansatz equations are not nessesarily the best way of finding Bethe roots. In many situations it is much more convenient to solve directly the *N*-th order Baxter equation involving no auxiliary Bethe roots. This method gives directly the Baxter polynomial containing the momentum-carrying roots only.

Our construction is closely related to the Separation of Variables (SoV) approach. At the classical level, SoV is a fundamental method of solving completely integrable models which reduces the dynamics to a set of decoupled 1-particle problems. While implementation of the SoV at the quantum level is more subtle (in particular due to operator ordering issues), its efficiency has also been demonstrated in many settings. Broadly speaking, the idea of the SoV method is to find variables in which the wavefunction of the system factorizes into 1-particle blocks. The SoV in application to quantum integrable spin chains was pioneered by Sklyanin in [38, 39]. Our proposal for the form of the operator $B^{good}(u)$ is based on the Sklyanin's approach.

To ensure non-degeneracy of the construction we consider spin chains with a generic diagonal twist and generic inhomogeneities. Another important element of our proposal is that one should add an extra similarity transformation in the auxiliary space in order to construct the eigenstates of the original spin chain.

Given the highly compact form of our representation for the states, we hope that our results should be useful in various contexts and may also help to approach the longstanding problem of generalizing Slavnov's determinant expression for the scalar product beyond the SU(2)-type models. Exploring potential applications for spin chains with PSU(2, 2|4) symmetry would be especially interesting in view of their relation with the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory.

Although the construction itself has a rather simple form, we found it is complicated to prove it in general. Instead, we check the conjecture extensively on numerous examples and numerically, and prove it in several particular cases. In this paper we focus on the canonical example of closed spin chains with rational R-matrix and a fundamental representation of SU(N) at each site.³ It would be interesting to find a general proof algebraically.

This paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we introduce the relevant notation and the key definitions related to algebraic Bethe ansatz. In section 3 we discuss the SU(2) case in detail and prove some novel nontrivial aspects of the construction involving our operator B^{good} . In section 4 we describe the SoV in the SU(3) case and present our conjecture for the new construction of eigenstates in this setting. In section 5 we propose an extension of the SoV approach beyond the well-studied SU(2) and SU(3) cases, and describe our proposal which should provide eigenstates in any SU(N) spin chain. Along the way we discuss many tests of the conjecture. In section 6 we present conclusions and outline future directions. Lastly, appendices contain some more technical details.

2 Notation and basic definitions

As the results we present in this paper are based on the algebraic Bethe ansatz framework, in this section we will describe its basic components for SU(N) spin chains, and also introduce relevant notation.

³The usual R-matrix on which the spin chain is based is of course GL(N)-invariant, but we refer to the spin chain as having SU(N) symmetry to emphasize that in the examples we consider we have a finite-dimensional representation at each site.

In the algebraic Bethe ansatz approach the key object defining the integrable model is the R-matrix. The SU(N) spin chains we study are based on the rational R-matrix which acts in $\mathbb{C}^N \otimes \mathbb{C}^N$ and has the form

$$R_{12}(u) = (u - i/2) + iP_{12}$$
(2.1)

where P is the permutation operator and u is the spectral parameter. We will concentrate on the case of spin chains with a fundamental representation of SU(N) at each site. As usual we introduce an auxiliary space \mathbb{C}^N supplementing the physical Hilbert space \mathcal{H} which is a tensor product of L copies of \mathbb{C}^N ,

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}^N \otimes \mathbb{C}^N \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{C}^N, \qquad (2.2)$$

and construct the monodromy matrix as the product of R-matrices,

$$T(u) = R_{01}(u - \theta_1)R_{02}(u - \theta_2)\dots R_{0L}(u - \theta_L)g, \qquad (2.3)$$

where the R-matrix R_{ak} acts in the tensor product of the auxiliary space V_a and the k-th copy of \mathbb{C}^N inside the Hilbert space. The complex parameters θ_k are known as inhomogeneities, while g is the twist matrix acting in the auxiliary space which we take to be diagonal,

$$g = \operatorname{diag}\left(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_N\right) \,. \tag{2.4}$$

The complex twists λ_i and inhomogenieties θ_k serve as important regulators in our construction, and we assume they are all distinct and in generic position.

It is convenient to understand T(u) as an $N \times N$ matrix,

$$T(u) = \begin{pmatrix} T_{11}(u) & \dots & T_{1N}(u) \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ T_{N1}(u) & \dots & T_{NN}(u) \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.5)

whose elements $T_{ij}(u)$ are operators acting only in the Hilbert space of the spin chain. These operators T_{ij} satisfy nontrivial commutation relations that can be deduced from the RTT relation, which reads

$$R_{ab}(u-v)T_a(u)T_b(v) = T_b(v)T_a(u)R_{ab}(u-v), \qquad (2.6)$$

where we introduce two auxiliary spaces $V_a, V_b \simeq \mathbb{C}^N$ so the R-matrix R_{ab} acts in their tensor product, while $T_k(u)$ acts in $V_k \otimes \mathcal{H}$.

The trace of T(u) over the auxiliary space can be written as

$$t_1(u) = \operatorname{tr}_0 T(u) = \sum_{n=1}^N T_{nn}(u),$$
 (2.7)

and is an operator in the physical space \mathcal{H} known as the transfer matrix. It commutes with itself at different values of the spectral parameter,

$$[t_1(u), t_1(v)] = 0, (2.8)$$

so that coefficients of the expansion of the transfer matrix in powers of u form a commutative family of operators, a particular combination of which is in fact the Hamiltonian of the spin chain. These operators can therefore be diagonalized simultaneously. They also have a particularly simple eigenvector given by

$$|0\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\\vdots\\0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\\vdots\\0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \cdots \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\\vdots\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.9)$$

which is used as a reference/vacuum state in the algebraic Bethe ansatz approach we will discuss below. Let us finally mention that we will often use brief notation for shifts in the spectral parameter, namely

$$f^{\pm} \equiv f(u \pm i/2), \ f^{[+a]} \equiv f(u + ia/2).$$
 (2.10)

The main problem we focus on in this paper is constructing the common eigenvectors of the commuting operators $t_1(u)$, which are automatically also eigenstates of the spin chain Hamiltonian. In the next section we describe how this problem is solved for the SU(2) spin chains.

3 Eigenstates and SoV for the SU(2) spin chain

In this section we describe in detail the well-known construction of eigenstates and separated variables for the simplest SU(2) spin chains. This case also illustrates several key elements of our approach which we will use later for higher rank spin chains.

3.1 Algebraic Bethe ansatz and SoV in the SU(2) case

For SU(2) spin chains the monodromy matrix T(u) from (2.5) is a 2 × 2 matrix whose entries act on the physical Hilbert space, and we denote them as

$$T(u) = \begin{pmatrix} A(u) & B(u) \\ C(u) & D(u) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.1)

The transfer matrix whose eigenstates and eigenvalues we would like to obtain is then given by A(u) + D(u), while the eigenstates can be built using B(u) as

$$|\Psi\rangle = B(u_1)\dots B(u_M)|0\rangle.$$
(3.2)

Here $|0\rangle$ is the vacuum state,

$$|0\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \cdots \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
, (3.3)

while the Bethe roots u_i are determined by the Bethe equations

$$\prod_{n=1}^{L} \frac{u_j - \theta_n + i/2}{u_j - \theta_n - i/2} = \frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_1} \prod_{k \neq j}^{M} \frac{u_j - u_k + i}{u_j - u_k - i}.$$
(3.4)

Let us also note that

$$[B(u), B(v)] = 0, (3.5)$$

so the states are symmetric in the Bethe roots.

Remarkably, in addition to generating the eigenstates the operator B(u) has another important property — namely, it provides the basis of separated variables within Sklyanin's SoV framework [39]. Let us first summarize in general the SoV construction in the SU(2) case, and then discuss several important subtleties regarding its implementation for our spin chain.

In order to construct the full set of separated variables, one assumes that B(u) is a polynomial of degree L. Making explicit its zeros, one can write

$$B(u) = B_0 \prod_{n=1}^{L} (u - x_n), \qquad (3.6)$$

where B_0 and x_n are operators which commute due to (3.5).⁴ At least in simplest examples, the operator B_0 is proportional to the identity operator on the Hilbert space so we can treat B_0 as a number. Assuming further that one can construct a complete set of left eigenvectors of B(u) which form a basis in the Hilbert space, and labelling them as $\langle x_1, \ldots, x_L \rangle$ to indicate the eigenvalues of all x_n , we find from (3.2)⁵

$$\langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L | \Psi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L | 0 \rangle B_0 \prod_{j=1}^M \prod_{n=1}^L (u_j - \mathbf{x}_n) \,. \tag{3.7}$$

Then normalizing the eigenvectors so that $\langle x_1, \ldots, x_L | 0 \rangle B_0 = 1$ we finally see that

$$\langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L | \Psi \rangle = \prod_{n=1}^L (-1)^M Q_1(\mathbf{x}_n),$$
 (3.8)

where $Q_1(u)$ is the Baxter Q-function,

$$Q_1(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{M} (u - u_j)$$
(3.9)

and the extra sign $(-1)^{M}$ comes from rearranging the product. In other words, (3.8) means that the wavefunction in this basis is factorized, realizing the key goal of the SoV approach. This simple form of the wavefunction greatly facilitates the computation of various observables such as form factors or scalar products (see [40–44, 47, 48] for some interesting recent examples).

We see that the factorization of the wavefunction in the eigenbasis of B(u) is clear almost at once from the construction of eigenstates (3.2). In the next section we will discuss details of the SoV approach in an explicit example.

⁴Several subtleties in defining the individual operators x_n as operator zeros of B are discussed in [38, 39].

⁵As discussed in [39], algebraically one can deduce various important properties of these variables even without using the construction of eigenstates (3.2) (that construction in particular assumes the existence of a good reference state $|0\rangle$ which is not true for some models).

3.2 Implementation for the SU(2) spin chain

While the above construction of separated variables should apply in principle to a wide variety of integrable models based on the rational SU(2) R-matrix, it is not completely trivial to implement it in practice for the spin chain we consider. The main problem is that the operator B(u) is nilpotent and not diagonalizable,⁶ even with generic twists λ_j and inhomogeneities θ_k . This degeneracy spoils the construction, since it is then not possible to construct an eigenbasis for the operators x_n . Moreover B(u) is a polynomial of degree less than L, making it even more problematic to define L nontrivial operators x_n .

To circumvent this problem it is convenient to introduce an extra similarity transformation in the auxiliary space. Namely, instead of T(u) we will consider a new matrix⁷

$$T^{\text{good}}(u) = K^{-1}T(u)K,$$
(3.10)

where the 2 × 2 constant matrix K acts only in the auxiliary space. This extra twisting will also be important for the SU(N) spin chains that we discuss below. Notice that this transformation leaves unchanged the trace of T(u), i.e. the transfer matrix which we want to diagonalize. Moreover, due to GL(2) invariance of the R-matrix the new monodromy matrix $T^{\text{good}}(u)$ will satisfy the same RTT relations (2.6) as T(u), so commutation relations between the elements $T^{\text{good}}_{ij}(u)$ will be the same as before. We will label the entries of T^{good} similarly to (3.1),

$$T^{\text{good}}(u) = \begin{pmatrix} A^{\text{good}}(u) & B^{\text{good}}(u) \\ C^{\text{good}}(u) & D^{\text{good}}(u) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.11)

The key point is that now one can use $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ to construct both the separated variables and the eigenstates of the orginal spin chain. With a generic choice of the matrix K, the operator $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ will be diagonalizable and also of degree L as a polynomial in u, as needed. As the commutation relations are unchanged, we also have

$$[B^{\text{good}}(u), B^{\text{good}}(v)] = 0.$$
(3.12)

As for the eigenstates, let us first focus on a simple example when K is upper triangular,⁸

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & 1/a \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.13)

(note that a particularly simple choice would be a = b = 1). This already guarantees that if a, b are nonzero then $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ is of degree L in u as one can easily check. Moreover, the matrix T^{good} then reads

$$T^{\text{good}}(u) = \begin{pmatrix} A(u) - abC(u) & \frac{b}{a} \left(A(u) - D(u) \right) + \frac{1}{a^2} B(u) - b^2 C(u) \\ a^2 C(u) & D(u) + abC(u) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.14)$$

⁶In fact it's intuitively clear that B is nilpotent in this case, as one can use it repeatedly to create all the states starting from the vacuum $|0\rangle$ which is a 'highest weight' state, and eventually reaching the maximally excited 'lowest weight' state which is annihilated by B.

⁷A similar transformation was considered independently in [45], and we would like to thank I. Kostov and D. Serban for illuminating discussions related to this approach. Parts of the construction were also discussed in [49].

⁸Without loss of generality we can assume det K = 1 as the scalar part of K drops out of (3.10).

and as the vacuum state $|0\rangle$ is annihilated by C(u), we see that

$$A^{\text{good}}(u)|0\rangle = A(u)|0\rangle, \quad D^{\text{good}}(u)|0\rangle = D(u)|0\rangle.$$
(3.15)

Let us recall that to prove that (3.2) are eigenstates of the transfer matrix it is enough to use the commutation relations between the A, B, C, D operators, together with the fact that the vacuum is an eigenstate of A(u) and D(u) with eigenvalues of a prescribed form. As we discussed, $T^{good}(u)$ satisfies the same RTT relations as T(u), which in combination with relations (3.15) guarantees that B^{good} can be used instead of B to build eigenstates as in (3.2), i.e.⁹

$$|\Psi\rangle \propto B^{\text{good}}(u_1)\dots B^{\text{good}}(u_M)|0\rangle$$
 (3.16)

Quite surprisingly, the operator B^{good} turns out to generate the eigenstates even for a generic matrix K. The proof of this fact is considerably more involved, the main difficulty being that in this case $|0\rangle$ is no longer an eigenstate of A^{good} and D^{good} . Nevertheless we found a proof and present it in appendix A. The main idea is to apply the SoV approach and make use of the variables conjugated to the separated variables x_n . Our only assumption is that the spectrum of x_n is $\theta_n \pm i/2$ as we discuss below.

Having constructed the operator B^{good} we can study in detail the implementation of the SoV program. As expected, we observe that the eigenvalues of each x_n are $\theta_n \pm i/2$ (see e.g. [39]).¹⁰ Then we can label the common eigenbasis of all x_n by the choice of signs in the eigenvalues, e.g. the state $\langle + + \cdots + |$ corresponds to all signs chosen as +. As we need to choose L signs, we get a complete basis of 2^L states. As an example, from (3.8) we get

$$\langle +++\dots+|\Psi\rangle = (-1)^{LM} Q_1 \left(\theta_1 + \frac{i}{2}\right) Q_1 \left(\theta_2 + \frac{i}{2}\right) Q_1 \left(\theta_3 + \frac{i}{2}\right) \dots Q_1 \left(\theta_L + \frac{i}{2}\right), \quad (3.17)$$
$$\langle +-+\dots+|\Psi\rangle = (-1)^{LM} Q_1 \left(\theta_1 + \frac{i}{2}\right) Q_1 \left(\theta_2 - \frac{i}{2}\right) Q_1 \left(\theta_3 + \frac{i}{2}\right) \dots Q_1 \left(\theta_L + \frac{i}{2}\right),$$

and so on.

A curious feature of the construction is that one can also build eigenstates with the same operator B^{good} but using a *dual* set of Bethe roots and acting on a different reference state. This property is directly related to the fact that one can use an arbitrary matrix K when building the operator B^{good} via (3.10). As this feature will also hold for the SU(N) chains we describe below, let us discuss it in detail here for the SU(2) case. Recall that in the usual SU(2) algebraic Bethe ansatz one can alternatively build the states by starting with an alternative reference state

$$|0'\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \dots \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.18)$$

⁹We use the \propto sign to indicate that normalization of the states (3.2) and (3.16) may be different.

¹⁰Strictly speaking there is an ambiguity in the definition of individual x_n operators, as the coefficients of the polynomial B(u) involve only their symmetric combinations. It is natural to define them in such a way that each x_n is associated with a particular site of the chain and has eigenvalues $\theta_n \pm i/2$ determined by the inhomogeneity at that site. This choice fixes the operators x_n uniquely.

and acting on it with C(u) rather than B(u),

$$|\Psi'\rangle = C(v_1)\dots C(v_{L-M})|0'\rangle \tag{3.19}$$

with operators C evaluated at the dual Bethe roots v_i which are zeros of the polynomial Q_2 defined by

$$\lambda_2 Q_1\left(u+\frac{i}{2}\right) Q_2\left(u-\frac{i}{2}\right) - \lambda_1 Q_1\left(u-\frac{i}{2}\right) Q_2\left(u+\frac{i}{2}\right) = (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1) \prod_{n=1}^L (u-\theta_n) . \quad (3.20)$$

In our construction there is no need to switch between the operators B and C, instead one can use the *same* operator B^{good} and act on the different reference state using the dual set of Bethe roots,

$$|\Psi'\rangle \propto B^{\text{good}}(v_1)\dots B^{\text{good}}(v_{L-M})|0'\rangle.$$
(3.21)

This can be proven using the same arguments as for the construction with usual Bethe roots and a generic matrix K which we discussed above (see appendix A).

3.3 The scalar product in the SoV representation

In this section we discuss briefly the scalar products of two 'off-shell' states. For convenience we pick a one-parametric family of B^{good} parameterized with an upper triangular matrix K in (3.10) of the form

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha}} \\ 0 & \sqrt{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.22)

Here α is an unfixed parameter which we retain for convenience. To make the results more compact we also choose to multiply B^{good} by an overall factor $1/(\lambda_2 - \lambda_1)$, so that explicitly we have

$$B_{\alpha}^{\text{good}} = \frac{1}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} \left(\alpha B - 1/\alpha \ C - A + D \right) \,. \tag{3.23}$$

In this subsection we also assume that the twist matrix is an SU(2) element, i.e.

$$\lambda_1 = 1/\lambda_2 = 1/\lambda_1^* \,. \tag{3.24}$$

We can define two Bethe vectors by:

$$|\psi\rangle = B_{\alpha}^{\text{good}}(u_1)\dots B_{\alpha}^{\text{good}}(u_N)|0\rangle, \quad |\phi\rangle = B_{-\frac{1}{\bar{\alpha}}}^{\text{good}}(v_1)\dots B_{-\frac{1}{\bar{\alpha}}}^{\text{good}}(v_{L-N})|0'\rangle.$$
(3.25)

Let us note that in the second equation here we use B^{good} evaluated with α in (3.23) replaced by $-1/\bar{\alpha}$. If the Bethe roots u_i satify the corresponding Bethe equations (and dual Bethe equations for v's) we get two eigenstates of the Hamiltonian. We can define off-shell Bethe states when this requirement is relaxed. We will see that it is not required for the computation of the scalar products of these two vectors. Using that $(B^{\text{good}}_{\alpha}(u))^{\dagger} = B^{\text{good}}_{-1/\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{u})$ (i.e. Hermitian conjugation corresponds to replacing α by $-1/\bar{\alpha}$) we find that

$$\langle \phi | \psi \rangle = \langle 0' | B_{\alpha}^{\text{good}}(u_1) \dots B_{\alpha}^{\text{good}}(u_M) | 0 \rangle$$
(3.26)

where u_i are the original Bethe roots for $i = 1 \dots N$ and $u_i = v_{i-N}$ for i > N.

The main idea is to write a representation of the identity operator in terms of left and right eigenvectors of B^{good} (in the remainder of this section we omit the subscript α). We already considered the left eigenvectors $\langle \mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_L |$ which we will denote for brevity as $\langle \mathbf{x} |$, so we have¹¹

$$\langle \mathbf{x} | B^{\text{good}}(u) = \langle \mathbf{x} | \prod_{n=1}^{L} (u - \mathbf{x}_n) .$$
(3.27)

One can easily see (at least for the first few L's) that the right eigenvalues of B^{good} are the same as the left ones. We will denote the right eigenstates as $|\mathbf{x}\rangle$, although they are not Hermitian conjugates of the left eigenvectors $\langle \mathbf{x}|$. Then we have

$$B^{\text{good}}(u)|\mathbf{x}\rangle = \prod_{n=1}^{L} (u - \mathbf{x}_n)|\mathbf{x}\rangle.$$
(3.28)

While the left eigenstates are normalized such that

$$\langle \mathbf{x}|0\rangle = 1\,,\tag{3.29}$$

it is convenient to normalize the right states using the dual vacuum $|0'\rangle$ so that

$$\langle 0' | \mathbf{x} \rangle = 1 \,. \tag{3.30}$$

Then the key observation is that the scalar product of the left and the right states is simple and reads¹²

$$\langle \mathbf{x} | \mathbf{y} \rangle = \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{x})} \delta_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}}$$
 (3.31)

with the measure μ given by¹³

$$\mu(\mathbf{x}) = \left(\frac{\alpha\lambda_2}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}\right)^L \prod_{n=1}^L \left(\frac{\mathbf{x}_n - \theta_n}{i/2}\right) \frac{\prod_{m < n}^L (\bar{\mathbf{x}}_m - \bar{\mathbf{x}}_n)}{\prod_{m < n}^L (\theta_m - \theta_n)},$$
(3.32)

where we denoted

$$\bar{\mathbf{x}}_n = \begin{cases} \theta_n - i/2, & \text{for } \mathbf{x}_n = \theta_n + i/2\\ \theta_n + i/2, & \text{for } \mathbf{x}_n = \theta_n - i/2 \end{cases}.$$
(3.33)

This means that we can write a resolution of the identity as

$$\mathbf{1} = \sum_{\mathbf{x}_n = \theta_n \pm i/2} |\mathbf{x}\rangle \langle \mathbf{x} | \ \mu(\mathbf{x}) \,. \tag{3.34}$$

¹¹With the definition (3.23) that we are using, the leading coefficient of B^{good} as a polynomial in u is 1.

 $^{^{12}}$ We have checked this explicitly for the first few L's with high numerical precision, but a complete proof should also not be too difficult.

¹³Similar expressions for the measure already appeared in [41, 45].

Inserting this representation of the identity operator immediately in front of the vacuum $|0\rangle$ in the scalar product (3.26), we get at once

$$\langle 0'|B^{\text{good}}(u_1)\dots B^{\text{good}}(u_L)|0\rangle = \sum_{\mathbf{x}_n = \theta_n \pm i/2} \mu(\mathbf{x}) \prod_{m=1}^M \prod_{n=1}^L (u_m - \mathbf{x}_n).$$
 (3.35)

The left-hand side of this equation is actually zero for M < L, but it still holds for any M. Thus as expected we can write this scalar product as a sum over all values of separated variables, with a simple measure (3.32).

In the appendix B we also link the usual Gaudin formula for the norm of a transfer matrix eigenstate with the SoV approach and also with the variation of the Q-functions with respect to the inhomogeneity parameters θ_i . In particular we rewrite the Gaudin formula in terms of Q-functions only, rather than in terms of individual Bethe roots (the result is given by (B.41)). Similar results already appeared in [40, 41, 47], but our derivation is different and utilizes several tricks which may be useful in other contexts.

4 Eigenstates for SU(3) spin chains from SoV

In this section we review how the SoV approach works for SU(3) spin chains. We then discuss in detail our main conjecture for this case, which states that spin chain eigenstates can be generated using the same operator that provides separated variables.

4.1 The *B* operator

The operator B(u) which should provide separated variables for quantum SU(3)-type models was constructed by Sklyanin in [50] (following the construction in the classical case [51]). It is built from entries of the monodromy matrix which in this case is a 3×3 matrix

$$T(u) = \begin{pmatrix} T_{11}(u) \ T_{12}(u) \ T_{13}(u) \\ T_{21}(u) \ T_{22}(u) \ T_{23}(u) \\ T_{31}(u) \ T_{32}(u) \ T_{33}(u) \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.1)

whose entries act on the physical Hilbert space. To build the operator B it is convenient to introduce the 2×2 quantum minors of this matrix as

$$T_{j_1 j_2 | k_1 k_2}(u) = T_{j_1 k_1}(u) T_{j_2 k_2}(u+i) - T_{j_2 k_1}(u) T_{j_1 k_2}(u+i).$$
(4.2)

In the SU(3) case it is natural to assemble these minors into a new matrix U as

$$U_{jk}(u) = (-1)^{j+k} T_{\bar{j}|\bar{k}}(u)$$
(4.3)

where $\overline{j} = \{1, 2, 3\} \setminus \{j\}$. In fact U is also the monodromy matrix constructed for the case when the auxiliary space carries the antisymmetric representation of SU(3) rather than the fundamental representation (in particular, U satisfies the same RTT relations (2.6) as the monodromy matrix T). With these definitions, the operator B(u) of [50] is given by

$$B(u) = T_{23}(u)U_{31}(u-i) - T_{13}(u)U_{32}(u-i), \qquad (4.4)$$

or explicitly

$$B(u) = T_{23}(u)T_{12}(u-i)T_{23}(u) - T_{23}(u)T_{22}(u-i)T_{13}(u)$$

$$+ T_{13}(u)T_{11}(u-i)T_{23}(u) - T_{13}(u)T_{21}(u-i)T_{13}(u).$$
(4.5)

As an indication of the complexity of the SU(3) models, let us note that B(u) is a polynomial of the 3rd degree in the monodromy matrix entries, while in the SU(2) case it was simply the element T_{12} .

From the commutation relations between elements of T(u) it follows that, remarkably,

$$[B(u), B(v)] = 0 (4.6)$$

so that similarly to the SU(2) case illustrated in (3.6) one can introduce new commuting operators as zeros of B(u). Importantly, in the SU(3) case B(u) is expected to be a polynomial of degree 3L in u as discussed in [50], so we have three zeros for each site of the chain. We will see below that based on the eigenvalue spectrum of B(u) it is natural to split the new operators into L groups with three operators in each group, so we can write

$$B(u) = B_0 \prod_{n=1}^{L} \prod_{a=1}^{3} (u - x_{n,a}), \qquad (4.7)$$

where the index n labels the sites, while a enumerates the three x operators associated with this site. The leading coefficient B_0 also commutes with all x_n .

4.2 Application to spin chains and construction of eigenstates

Let us discuss how to apply the above construction to our main example, the spin chain with a fundamental representation at each of the L sites. Calculating B(u) explicitly for low values of L we immediately see that as in the SU(2) case it is nilpotent and not diagonalizable. In fact it annihilates almost the entire Hilbert space (for instance, when L = 1 all its matrix elements are simply zero). This is true even with generic twists λ_i and inhomogeneities θ_n . To remedy this problem we again apply a similarity transformation to the monodromy matrix as we described in (3.10) for the SU(2) case, so we introduce

$$T^{\text{good}}(u) = K^{-1}T(u)K \tag{4.8}$$

where K is a constant matrix for which a particularly simple choice is

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(4.9)

As we will discuss below, we observed that even for a generic K all the key features of our construction are preserved.

Now we build a new operator $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ by using the expression (4.5) for B(u) in which we replace the elements $T_{ij}(u)$ by $T_{ij}^{\text{good}}(u)$. All algebraic properties of the original B(u) will be inherited by B^{good} as the commutation relations between elements of T are preserved by the transformation (4.8), in particular we have

$$[B^{\text{good}}(u), B^{\text{good}}(v)] = 0.$$
(4.10)

At the same time, computing B^{good} explicitly for various L's we observe that it now can be diagonalized and moreover is a polynomial of degree 3L as required, with a nonvanishing leading coefficient given by

$$B_0 = (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2)(\lambda_1 - \lambda_3)(\lambda_2 - \lambda_3).$$
(4.11)

Then the separated variables x_n will be defined as zeros of B^{good} ,

$$B^{\text{good}}(u) = B_0 \prod_{n=1}^{L} \prod_{a=1}^{3} (u - x_{n,a}).$$
(4.12)

Our key conjecture is that in addition to providing separated variables, the operator $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ also generates the eigenstates of the transfer matrix, which can be built exactly as in the SU(2) case, namely

$$|\Psi\rangle = B^{\text{good}}(u_1)\dots B^{\text{good}}(u_M)|0\rangle, \qquad (4.13)$$

where $|0\rangle$ is the usual reference state

$$|0\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\0 \end{pmatrix} \otimes \dots \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\0 \end{pmatrix} . \tag{4.14}$$

In this formula the parameters u_k are the momentum-carrying Bethe roots. They are determined by the usual Bethe equations which describe the spectrum of the transfer matrix eigenvalues and are well-known from the nested Bethe ansatz approach. These equations read

$$\prod_{n=1}^{L} \frac{u_j - \theta_n + i/2}{u_j - \theta_n - i/2} = \frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_1} \prod_{k \neq j}^{M} \frac{u_j - u_k + i}{u_j - u_k - i} \prod_{k=1}^{R} \frac{u_j - v_k - i/2}{u_j - v_k + i/2}, \qquad (4.15)$$

$$\prod_{n=1}^{M} \frac{v_j - u_n + i/2}{v_j - u_n - i/2} = \frac{\lambda_3}{\lambda_2} \prod_{k \neq j}^{R} \frac{v_j - v_k + i}{v_j - v_k - i}.$$

The parameters v_k are known as the auxiliary Bethe roots and they do not enter directly our construction of the states. Their only role is that they appear in the equations above which fix the positions¹⁴ of the momentum-carrying roots u_n .

In summary, we expect that to build the full set of states one should go through all solutions of the Bethe equations, and for each of them plug the corresponding set of u_j into the formula (4.13).

¹⁴Let us also note that for a fixed number of magnons $M \leq L$, there can be several states, parameterized in particular by the number of auxiliary roots which should satisfy $R \leq M$.

For comparison let us briefly recall the well-known construction of the states via the nested algebraic Bethe ansatz. In this approach they are given by

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{a_i=2,3} F^{a_1 a_2 \dots a_M} T_{1a_1}(u_1) T_{1a_2}(u_2) \dots T_{1a_M}(u_M) |0\rangle$$
(4.16)

where $F^{a_1a_2...a_M}$ is the wavefunction of an auxiliary SU(2) spin chain with M sites in which u_j are the inhomogenieties. The auxiliary Bethe roots v_k should be understood as the rapidities of magnons propagating on this spin chain. Notice that two different operators act on the vacuum here $(T_{12} \text{ and } T_{13})$, which moreover do not commute with each other. In contrast, our conjecture (4.13) features only one operator $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ which also commutes with itself at different values of u. Furthermore, (4.16) is a sum of 2^M nontrivial terms, with coefficients $F^{a_1a_2...a_M}$ that are quite complicated and are determined recursively from a lower rank spin chain. Our formula instead is much more compact and has the same form as for the simplest SU(2) spin chain.

We have checked our conjecture in a multitude of cases, leaving little doubt in its validity. At the same time, obtaining a complete analytic proof is likely to be quite non-trivial. In the next section we describe various tests as well as presenting a proof for some special cases.

4.3 Tests of the proposal for eigenstates

We have numerically checked our conjecture extensively using Mathematica for values of L up to about $L \sim 5$. We considered many states, with various numbers of roots of each type, and found that our proposal (4.13) works perfectly. In order to easily solve the Bethe equations, we typically considered a configuration with generic real twists $\lambda_i \sim 100$ and large real inhomogeneities $\theta_i \sim 100$ which are also well separated from each other, i.e. $|\theta_i - \theta_j| \sim 100$. In this regime the values of all the Bethe roots are close to the inhomogeneities, so having these good starting points it is simple to find very accurate numerical solutions of the Bethe equations. Then we checked that our proposal provides eigenstates with very high precision (typically 50 - 100 digits). In the SU(N) cases which will be discussed below in this paper we followed a similar numerical approach.

In addition, we have proven the conjecture analytically for arbitrary L for states with 1 and 2 momentum-carrying roots. The proof is done for the case when the matrix K which we use to build B^{good} via (4.8) is taken to be the upper triangular matrix (4.9). The key point is that in this case $|0\rangle$ is an eigenstate for most of the elements T_{ij} (see e.g. [16]), namely

$$T_{11}(u)|0\rangle = \lambda_1 Q_{\theta}^+(u)|0\rangle, \quad T_{22}(u)|0\rangle = \lambda_2 Q_{\theta}^-(u)|0\rangle, \tag{4.17}$$

$$T_{33}(u)|0\rangle = \lambda_3 Q_{\theta}^{-}(u)|0\rangle, \qquad (4.18)$$

and

$$T_{21}(u)|0\rangle = T_{31}(u)|0\rangle = T_{32}(u)|0\rangle = T_{23}(u)|0\rangle = 0.$$
(4.19)

Here we denoted

$$Q_{\theta} = \prod_{n=1}^{L} (u - \theta_n) \tag{4.20}$$

and we recall the notation from (2.10),

$$f^{\pm} \equiv f(u \pm i/2), \ f^{[+a]} \equiv f(u + ia/2).$$
 (4.21)

The operator B^{good} which we use is constructed out of elements of T^{good} , for which we have precisely the same relations (4.17), (4.18), (4.19) with the only exception being

$$T_{23}^{\text{good}}(u)|0\rangle = \left(\lambda_2 Q_{\theta}^- - \lambda_3 Q_{\theta}^-\right)|0\rangle.$$
(4.22)

Then our strategy is to act on the state (4.13) with the transfer matrix, and commute all the elements of T^{good} (except T_{12}^{good} and T_{13}^{good}) to the right until they hit the vacuum $|0\rangle$ which is an eigenstate for them. To do this we use the commutation relations between elements of T^{good} which follow from the RTT relation (2.6). As a result the expression greatly simplifies, and one can also see that if the Bethe equations are satisfied several terms will cancel. As an example, for a state with one momentum-carrying root built as

$$|\Psi\rangle = B^{\text{good}}(u)|0\rangle \tag{4.23}$$

we find

$$\left(T_{11}^{\text{good}}(w) + T_{22}^{\text{good}}(w) + T_{33}^{\text{good}}(w) \right) B^{\text{good}}(u) |0\rangle$$

= $f_1 T_{12}^{\text{good}}(u) |0\rangle + f_2 T_{13}^{\text{good}}(u) |0\rangle + f_3 T_{13}^{\text{good}}(w) |0\rangle ,$ (4.24)

where f_i are some lengthy coefficients. We see that the last term here is unwanted, as it includes $T_{13}^{\text{good}}(w)$ which clearly cannot appear in the expression for the state itself. However, its coefficient f_3 is rather simple,

$$f_{3} = -\frac{i(\lambda_{3} - \lambda_{2})Q_{\theta}^{[-3]}(u)}{w - u} \left(\lambda_{2}Q_{\theta}^{-}(u) - \lambda_{1}Q_{\theta}^{+}(u)\right) \left(\lambda_{3}Q_{\theta}^{-}(u) - \lambda_{1}Q_{\theta}^{+}(u)\right) .$$
(4.25)

It's easy to see that on the solution of Bethe equations without auxiliary roots the next-to last factor in f_3 will be zero, while for the solution with one auxiliary root the last factor will vanish. This means that the unwanted term will disappear from (4.24). One can then check that the remaining part is proportional to the original state given by (4.23) which is therefore indeed an eigenstate, as expected.

In a similar way we have proven that the construction works for states with 2 momentum-carrying roots at any L. This calculation involves even more lengthy expressions and we do not give them here. In principle, the same approach should allow to prove the conjecture for any specified number of magnons. We hope however that a more algebraic proof can be found which would apply for any L and any number of excitations at once.

4.4 Construction with dual roots

Another surprising feature of our construction is that one can use dual Bethe roots¹⁵ as arguments of the operators B^{good} in (4.13), provided they also act on the corresponding

¹⁵See e.g. [52, 53] for a pedagogical discussion of dualities in the Bethe ansatz.

different reference state. This is in complete analogy with the SU(2) case discussed above (see (3.21)) where B^{good} can be used either with the usual roots or with the dual roots. The main difference with the SU(2) case is that now we have three natural reference states (defined as in (4.14) but with the 1's in the second row or in the third row), and accordingly to each eigenstate of the transfer matrix correspond three dual sets of momentum-carrying Bethe roots.¹⁶ However, we observed that one and the same operator B^{good} allows to build the eigenstates starting from either reference state, as long as one uses the corresponding set of Bethe roots as arguments of B's in (4.13). We have checked this in many examples, but it would be interesting to find a rigorous proof.

This property is also directly linked with the fact that our construction works (as we observed in various examples) for a generic matrix K in (4.8), as with arbitrary K the reference state $|0\rangle$ is no longer distinguiushed. The possibility of taking K generic also means that we have a whole family of operators B^{good} which all work well, and we found that this family is three-parametric in the SU(3) case (a more detailed discussion is given in section 5.3).

4.5 The spectrum of separated variables

To characterize the states in the SoV language, it is important to understand the eigenvalue spectrum of the operators $x_{n,a}$, which are the zeros of $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ introduced in (4.12),

$$B^{\text{good}}(u) = B_0 \prod_{n=1}^{L} \prod_{a=1}^{3} (u - x_{n,a}).$$
(4.26)

These operators define separated variables and we label their eigenstates according to their eigenvalues, as $|\mathbf{x}_{1,1}, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_{L,3}\rangle$. In direct analogy (3.8) for the SU(2) case, our construction of states immediately guarantees that the wavefunction in the eigenbasis of B^{good} will take a factorized form,

$$\langle \mathbf{x}_{1,1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{L,3} | \Psi \rangle = \prod_{n=1}^{L} \prod_{a=1}^{3} (-1)^{M} Q_{1}(\mathbf{x}_{n,a})$$
 (4.27)

where $Q_1(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{M} (u - u_j).$

In the SU(2) case there were as many x_n 's as sites, while here we have three variables $x_{n,a}$ for each site n of the chain, since B is a polynomial of degree 3L. When L = 1 the Hilbert space is \mathbb{C}^3 and we found that the three left eigenvalues¹⁷ of B^{good} read¹⁸

$$(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2)(\lambda_1 - \lambda_3)(\lambda_2 - \lambda_3)\left(u - \left(\theta_1 + \frac{3i}{2}\right)\right)\left(u - \left(\theta_1 - \frac{i}{2}\right)\right)^k \left(u - \left(\theta_1 + \frac{i}{2}\right)\right)^{2-k}$$

$$(4.28)$$

with k = 0, 1, 2. We have verified this expression numerically with a high precision after setting λ_i and θ_i to numerical values. There is an ambiguity in choosing which of the

¹⁶In the Q-system language (see e.g. [54] and references therein), these are the zeros of $Q_1(u), Q_2(u)$ and $Q_3(u)$.

¹⁷It is the *left* eigenvalues and eigenvectors of B^{good} which define the basis of separated variables, see the discussion for SU(2) in the previous section.

¹⁸The overall prefactor given here is the one obtained if one uses the upper triangular matrix K from (4.9).

eigenvalues should be attributed to which of the x's (as B^{good} is symmetric in all the $x_{n,a}$), but for the purpose of labelling the states we may choose e.g. the operator $x_{1,1}$ to act as a scalar equal to $\theta_1 + \frac{3i}{2}$. Then there are three options for the remaining eigenvalues $\{x_{1,2}, x_{1,3}\}$, namely

$$\left\{\theta_1 + \frac{i}{2}, \ \theta_1 + \frac{i}{2}\right\}, \ \left\{\theta_1 + \frac{i}{2}, \ \theta_1 - \frac{i}{2}\right\}, \ \left\{\theta_1 - \frac{i}{2}, \ \theta_1 - \frac{i}{2}\right\}.$$
(4.29)

We can label the corresponding three eigenstates according to the \pm signs appearing in these eigenvalues, so we get three states

$$|(++)\rangle, |(+-)\rangle, |(--)\rangle \tag{4.30}$$

which form a basis in the Hilbert space \mathbb{C}^3 . This is precisely the basis in which the wavefunction factorizes. Note that it is just the unordered set of eigenvalues which identifies the state uniquely, so we do not have an additional state $|(-+)\rangle$.

Furthermore, we observed that the pattern of eigenvalues for higher L is obtained trivially from this one. Namely, B^{good} will contain a trivial overall scalar factor

$$(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2)(\lambda_1 - \lambda_3)(\lambda_2 - \lambda_3) \prod_{n=1}^{L} \left(u - \left(\theta_n + \frac{3i}{2}\right) \right)$$
(4.31)

so one can choose the *L* operators $x_{k,1}$ with k = 1, ..., L to act as scalars (with eigenvalues $\theta_k + \frac{3i}{2}$). The remaining nontrivial matrix part of B^{good} determines eigenvalues of the other x's, which are equal to

$$\left\{\theta_1 \pm \frac{i}{2}, \theta_1 \pm \frac{i}{2}, \ \theta_2 \pm \frac{i}{2}, \ \theta_2 \pm \frac{i}{2}, \dots, \theta_L \pm \frac{i}{2}, \ \theta_L \pm \frac{i}{2}\right\}.$$
 (4.32)

All combinations of signs are allowed here, and the unordered set of these eigenvalues labels the eigenstates of B^{good} giving 3^L possibilities which precisely corresponds to the dimension of the Hilbert space.

In other words, with each site k we associate three operators $x_{k,1}, x_{k,2}, x_{k,3}$, one of which acts trivially on the whole space as $\theta_k + \frac{3i}{2}$ and the two others have eigenvalues $\theta_k \pm \frac{i}{2}$. At each site we can choose one of the three distinct combinations of signs in these eigenvalues, namely ++, +- and --. To indicate all the nontrivial eigenvalues we can then label a state as e.g.

$$|(++)(+-)(+-)...\rangle$$
 (4.33)

where we group in brackets the labels corresponding to the same site.

5 Extension to the SU(N) case

In this section we demonstrate how to extend the compact construction of eigenstates to the SU(N) spin chains. We first discuss the SU(4) case and present the operator $B^{good}(u)$, which we obtained by making an ansatz for it as a combination of quantum minors and then fixing the free parameters by several constraints. Then we extend the construction to the SU(N) setting and discuss its features.

5.1 The *B* operator for SU(4)

While the SoV program has been thoroughly studied for SU(2)-type models and to a lesser degree for the SU(3) case (see e.g. [26, 55]), its extension to the case of higher rank groups presents a challenge. One of the key required ingredients is the operator B(u) providing the separated variables. Let us motivate and present our conjecture for the form of this operator in the SU(4) case. We will first discuss constructing the operator B(u) itself and then, as before, we will apply an extra similarity transformation which removes degeneracies and provides the operator $B^{good}(u)$ which generates the eigenstates of the spin chain.

The main inspiration comes from the form of B given for SU(3) by (4.4), where it is written in terms of 2×2 quantum minors of the monodromy matrix. For higher rank groups one can also construct $n \times n$ quantum minors which are known to satisfy various identities and frequently appear in the study of integrable models (see e.g [56]). This suggests to make an ansatz for B(u) using these building blocks. The $n \times n$ quantum minors are defined by a sum over permutations,

$$T_{j_1,\dots,j_n|k_1,\dots,k_n}(u) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_n} (-1)^{\operatorname{sign}(\sigma)} T_{j_{\sigma(1)}k_1}(u) T_{j_{\sigma(2)}k_2}(u+i) \dots T_{j_{\sigma(n)}k_n}(u+(n-1)i) .$$
(5.1)

In this notation $T_{i|j}(u)$ stands for the monodromy matrix element $T_{ij}(u)$ itself. The formula (5.1) is similar to a determinant but includes extra shifts in u. We can write the SU(3) result explicitly as

$$B(u) = T_{1|3}(u)T_{12|13}(u-i) + T_{2|3}(u)T_{12|23}(u-i), \qquad (5.2)$$

so for SU(4) it would be natural to include also 3×3 minors.

Another piece of information is the known form of B(u) for classical SU(N) spin chains. It was found in [57, 58] (see also [59, 60] and the more recent work [61]) and reads¹⁹

$$B = \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{N-1}=1}^{N-1} \epsilon_{i_1\dots i_{N-1}} T_{i_1N} (T^2)_{i_2N} \dots (T^{N-1})_{i_{N-1}N} .$$
(5.3)

We see that B is a polynomial of degree N(N-1)/2 in the entries of the monodromy matrix, which here are all evaluated at the same value u of the spectral parameter. However it is highly nontrivial to generalize this expression to the quantum case, as the classical limit corresponds to treating T_{ij} as commuting elements so the operator ordering is lost. In addition, in this limit one removes all the shifts of the spectral parameter by multiples of *i*, even though e.g. in the quantum SU(3) result (5.2) the shifts play a key role.

One possible quantization of the classical result was proposed in [62] in the context of models associated to $U_q(\hat{sl}_N)$ symmetry, i.e. with a trigonometric R-matrix, although the implementation of this approach for concrete models was not discussed in that paper. While the result there is given in an implicit form, we independently derived an explicit expression for the *B* operator which we will present shortly (and we also identified the role of *B* for creating the transfer matrix eigenstates). It would be interesting though rather

¹⁹To be clear, in (5.3) we denote by T^n the product of *n* matrices T_{ij} .

nontrivial to compare our results with [62], in particular we expect that an extra twist similar to K we use to build T^{good} will be crucial for applying the construction of [62] in explicit examples.

Motivated by the structure of (5.3) and (5.2), we made the following ansatz for B(u) in the SU(4) case:

$$B(u) = \sum s_{i_1 i_2 \dots i_6} T_{i_1 | 4}(u) T_{i_2 i_3 | i_4 4}(u+c_1) T_{123 | i_5 i_6 4}(u+c_2)$$
(5.4)

where the sum runs over the values of indices

$$i_1, i_2, \dots i_6 = 1, 2, 3$$
 with $i_2 < i_3, i_5 < i_6$. (5.5)

Here $s_{i_1...i_6}$ and c_1, c_2 are unfixed parameters. Note that due to the product of minors of increasing sizes in each term, B is a polynomial of degree 1 + 2 + 3 = 6 in the entries of T_{ij} , as required by the classical formula (5.3). We also ensured that 4 appears among the column indices of each minor, to reflect the structure of the classical result.

To fix the unknowns in this ansatz we specialize to the case of the SU(4) spin chain with fundamental representation at each site. Also, as before we construct from B the operator B^{good} , using instead of T_{ij} the elements of T^{good} which is obtained by an upper triangular similarity transformation as in (4.8), (4.9):

$$T^{\text{good}} = K^{-1}TK, \quad K = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.6)

We use this concrete choice of K when fixing the parameters in our ansatz, but we also found that once they are fixed the construction continues to work just as well with generic K.

Then in order to determine uniquely the unknown parameters $s_{i_1...i_6}$ and $c_{1,2}$ it is enough to impose that:

- In the classical limit B reduces to $(5.3)^{20}$
- $[B^{\text{good}}(u), B^{\text{good}}(v)] = 0$ for L = 1, 2
- For L = 1 the operator $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ generates all the three eigenstates with one momentum-carrying Bethe root by acting on the usual reference state $|0\rangle$, similarly to (4.13)

Remarkably, this fixes most of the coefficients $s_{i_1...i_6}$ to zero, while the rest are set to be equal to 1! Another nice feature is that the shifts $c_{1,2}$ are fixed to successive multiples of i, namely

$$c_1 = -i, \ c_2 = -2i. \tag{5.7}$$

 $^{^{20}}$ In fact we impose that it should reduce to minus the classical result, this overall sign is irrelevant but gives a nicer expression for the quantum *B* operator.

Thus the expression for B can be written simply as

$$B(u) = \sum_{j,k} T_{j|4}(u) T_{k|j4}(u-i) T_{123|k4}(u-2i)$$
(5.8)

where $k = \{k_1, k_2\}$ and the sum runs over the values of indices j, k_1, k_2 from 1 to 3 with $k_1 < k_2$.

We have checked this result extensively. In particular we find that the property

$$[B^{\text{good}}(u), B^{\text{good}}(v)] = 0, \qquad (5.9)$$

which we ensured for L = 1, 2, continues to hold for L = 3, 4. Most importantly, we found that eigenstates of the transfer matrix can be generated as before,

$$|\Psi\rangle \propto B^{\text{good}}(u_1)\dots B^{\text{good}}(u_M)|0\rangle$$
 (5.10)

where u_k are the momentum-carrying Bethe roots.

Thus we have extended our conjecture for construction of eigenstates to the SU(4) case. We have numerically²¹ checked it thoroughly for values of L up to L = 4 and various numbers of the Bethe roots of different types excited.²² In particular, for L = 2 we verified numerically that the construction gives *all* the 16 states, both for a generic matrix K and for the upper triangular K from (5.6). We expect that the same operator B should also provide the separated variables as its operator zeros, similarly to the SU(2) and SU(3) cases.

Let us also mention that another expression for the operator B(u) which should provide separated variables for rational SU(N) models was proposed in [63], motivated by considerations related to so-called Manin matrices. In the SU(4) case we observed that, as expected, without the extra twist matrix K that operator is nilpotent and cannot be diagonalized (at least for L = 1, 2). Using a nontrivial K matrix as in (5.6) cures this problem, but we found that already for L = 2 the resulting operator does not satisfy the commutativity property (5.9) and therefore cannot be used to define separated variables.²³ The structure of our result is nevertheless rather similar to that in [63], and it would be interesting to look for possible connections.

5.2 Generalization to any SU(N)

Let us now present the conjecture for the operator B generalizing the above results to any SU(N) group. To see the structure let us write again the SU(3) and SU(4) results from (5.2), (5.8), which read

$$B^{\mathrm{SU}(3)}(u) = \sum_{j=1}^{2} T_{j|3}(u) T_{12|j3}(u-i), \qquad (5.11)$$
$$B^{\mathrm{SU}(4)}(u) = \sum_{j,k}^{3} T_{j|4}(u) T_{k|j4}(u-i) T_{123|k4}(u-2i).$$

²¹See the beginning of section 4.3 for a brief summary of our numerical strategy.

 $^{^{22}}$ Note that for L=4 we already have to deal with rather large matrices having $256\times256=65536$ elements.

 $^{^{23}}$ Accordingly, it also does not generate the two-magnon eigenstates of the transfer matrix already for L = 2.

Our conjecture for SU(N) is

$$B(u) = \sum_{j,k,\dots,p} T_{j|N}(u) T_{k|jN}(u-i) T_{l|kN}(u-2i) \dots T_{123\dots(N-1)|pN}(u-(N-2)i)$$
(5.12)

where

$$k = \{k_1, k_2\}, \quad l = \{l_1, l_2, l_3\}, \quad \dots, \quad p = \{p_1, p_2, \dots, p_{N-2}\}$$

$$(5.13)$$

and the sum runs over the values of indices j, k_n, l_n, \ldots, p_n from 1 to N-1 with

$$k_1 < k_2, \quad l_1 < l_2 < l_3, \ \dots, \ p_1 < p_2 < \dots < p_{N-2}.$$
 (5.14)

The main ingredient here is the pattern of indices in the expression under the sum, which for SU(3), SU(4), SU(5) reads

$$jj, jkjk, jkjlkl$$
 (5.15)

and so on — we see that each time a new index appears both before and after the last index of the previous expression. This pattern ensures in particular that all minors in (5.12) have the appropriate number of indices. In appendix C we present explicit expressions for B corresponding to $N \leq 5$.

We also see that B is a polynomial of degree $1 + 2 + \cdots + (N - 1) = \frac{N(N-1)}{2}$ in the elements T_{ij} , as it should be according to the known classical result (5.3). For $N \leq 6$ we have also checked that in the classical limit our result precisely reproduces the classical expression (5.3) (up to an overall sign which is irrelevant). This matching involves various cancellations which are certainly not obvious from the form of our result, and is already a highly nontrivial test of our conjecture.

Like in the lower rank cases, it is important to remove degeneracies by constructing the operator B^{good} from this operator B. We again use the similarity transformation (5.6) with a $N \times N$ matrix K which we can take to be generic or specialize to an upper triangular K with all elements equal to 0 or 1, like in (5.6). Then we expect that the operator $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ will provide a commutative family,

$$[B^{\text{good}}(u), B^{\text{good}}(v)] = 0, \qquad (5.16)$$

and will again generate the eigenstates of the transfer matrix by acting on the vacuum,

$$|\Psi\rangle = B^{\text{good}}(u_1)\dots B^{\text{good}}(u_M)|0\rangle$$
(5.17)

where u_k are the momentum-carrying roots.

Moreover, we expect that like in the SU(3) and SU(2) cases one can perform any duality transformation in the nested Bethe ansatz equations and then use the dual sets of momentum-carrying roots as arguments of B^{good} to build the states (and acting with B^{good} on the corresponding reference state instead of $|0\rangle$).

We have checked commutativity (5.16) and the construction of various states in the SU(5) case for the first several values of L. Moreover for L = 2 we explicitly verified with generic K that our conjecture provides all the 25 eigenstates, going one by one through each solution of the rather involved Bethe equations which in particular contain four types of Bethe roots. In combination with the compact form of our operator B, these confirmations are hardly an accident and we believe they provide strong evidence for our proposal.

5.3 Free parameters in the construction

It is important to reiterate that rather than just one operator B^{good} , we can build a family of such operators by taking a generic $N \times N$ matrix K in the expression (5.6) for the improved monodromy matrix T^{good} , which reads

$$T^{\text{good}} = K^{-1}TK. ag{5.18}$$

Even with generic K, we observed in many examples that the operator B^{good} constructed from this T^{good} retains all the key properties such as commutativity and the ability to create the states. Without loss of generality we can impose det K = 1, as a scalar K will not change T at all. This leaves $N^2 - 1$ complex parameters in K. However, not all K's lead to distinct operators B^{good} . Based on explicit examples we considered, we expect that B^{good} will generically contain only N free parameters (one of which corresponds to a trivial rescaling $B^{\text{good}} \to \text{const} \cdot B^{\text{good}}$). We have checked this for the first several values of Lwhen $N \leq 4$ by considering the effect on B^{good} of small variation of the matrix K around some generic matrix. This extra freedom may be useful in some applications and it would be interesting to better understand its role.

Let us mention that at the classical level one can easily introduce N parameters into the expression for B given in (5.3), namely can consider (see e.g. $[60])^{24}$

$$B = \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_N=1}^N \epsilon_{i_1\dots i_N} \alpha_{i_1} (T\alpha)_{i_2} (T^2\alpha)_{i_3} \dots (T^{N-1}\alpha)_{i_N} , \qquad (5.19)$$

where $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N)$ is a constant vector. The original expression (5.3) is recovered by setting $\alpha_i = \delta_{iN}$. Different choices of α correspond to different normalizations of the Baker-Akhiezer function which plays an important role in the SoV program for classical models (see [39, 60] for details). Nicely, at the classical level the family of functions (5.19) parameterized by α_i is exactly the same as the family obtained in our approach which involves free parameters in the matrix K. Namely, by starting from the expression (5.3) and replacing in it the matrix T by $T^{\text{good}} = K^{-1}TK$ one obtains precisely (5.19) in which the parameters α_i are given by²⁵

$$\alpha_i = K_{iN}, \quad i = 1, \dots, N \tag{5.20}$$

and we also assume that det K = 1. Thus at the classical level the N parameters in our operator B^{good} correspond to the N-parametric freedom of choosing the normalization of the Baker-Akhiezer function. At the same time, this identification is only valid classically, and it would be important to clarify the algebraic meaning of the free parameters in our construction in the quantum case.

5.4 Eigenvalues of separated variables

It is natural to conjecture that the operator B^{good} we have constructed should also provide separated variables for the SU(N) case. We expect all the main features to be in

²⁴We are grateful to D. Medina and M. Heinze for related discussions.

²⁵We have checked this for N = 2, 3, 4.

direct analogy with the SU(2) and SU(3) cases, and here we will briefly describe how they generalize to SU(N).

In the SU(N) case the operator B^{good} is a polynomial of degree N(N-1)/2 in u. We again define the operators $x_{n,a}$ as its zeros, with $n = 1, \ldots, L$ and $a = 1, \ldots, N(N-1)/2$. Then the construction of eigenstates (5.17) implies that in the appropriately normalized left eigenbasis of $x_{n,a}$ (whose eigenvalues we denote as $x_{n,a}$) the wavefunction will factorize as

$$\langle \mathbf{x}_{1,1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{L,N(N-1)/2} | \Psi \rangle = \prod_{n=1}^{L} \prod_{a=1}^{N(N-1)/2} (-1)^{M} Q_{1}(\mathbf{x}_{n,a})$$
 (5.21)

where $Q_1(u) = \prod_{j=1}^{M} (u - u_j)$ is the Baxter function associated to momentum-carrying Bethe roots. Thus it is important to understand the spectrum of the $x_{n,a}$ operators, which can be found form the zeros of eigenvalues of $B^{\text{good}}(u)$.

It is natural to associate $x_{n,a}$ with site n of the chain. As before, we found that B^{good} contains a simple scalar factor multiplying a nontrivial matrix piece. For L = 1 the scalar factor is²⁶

$$\left[u - \left(\theta_1 + \frac{3i}{2}\right)\right]^{N-2} \left[u - \left(\theta_1 + \frac{5i}{2}\right)\right]^{N-3} \dots \left[u - \left(\theta_1 + \frac{(2N-3)i}{2}\right)\right]$$
(5.22)

so we can choose all of the $x_{1,a}$ except N-1 of them to act as scalars with eigenvalues corresponding to zeros of (5.22). The remaining N-1 of the $x_{1,a}$ have eigenvalues $\theta_1 \pm \frac{i}{2}$, and the *unordered* set of these eigenvalues identifies the eigenstate. We can therefore label the eigenstates by the pattern of \pm signs in these eigenvalues, and all possible patterns are realized, giving N states

$$|(+++\cdots+)\rangle, \ |(-++\cdots+)\rangle, \ |(--+\cdots+)\rangle, \ \ldots, \ |(--\cdots-)\rangle$$
(5.23)

which form a basis in the Hilbert space. For higher L we expect that again eigenvalues are trivially combined between different sites, like in the SU(3) case (see (4.33)).

We have checked that the spectrum of B has the form described above at least for the first several L's in the SU(4) and SU(5) cases. This simple pattern of eigenvalues can also be viewed as yet another nontrivial test of our proposal (5.12) for the B operator in the SU(N) case.

6 Conclusions and future directions

In this paper we put forward a new construction of eigenstates for SU(N) integrable spin chains. It has a highly compact form which closely parallells the SU(2) case, involving only a single operator B(u) which is directly related to Sklyanin's SoV approach. We would like to emphasize that even for an arbitrary SU(N) group the states are built using just one operator, rather than going through many levels of nesting in the usual algebraic Bethe ansatz.

 $^{^{26} {\}rm There}$ is also a *u*-independent prefactor which contains elements of the K matrix, we do not write it here for brevity.

Our proposal is supported by highly nontrivial analytic and numerical tests, leaving little doubt in its correctness. The simple pattern of eigenvalues of the separated variables that we observed also gives extra support to our conjecture. Our results also provide one of the very few concrete examples of the SoV program at work beyond the most-studied SU(2) and SU(3) cases.

Let us list several open problems and interesting directions for future work.

- One of the main motivations for us was the potential to apply the SoV program for computing 3-point correlators in planar N = 4 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory (SYM) and its dual string theory. The SoV has been already used successfully in this AdS/CFT context [45, 64–68] (see also [69]), but its application has been restricted to essentially rank one sectors.²⁷ We hope that our results will facilitate further progress, especially given that the Q-functions in N = 4 SYM are available at any coupling via the Quantum Spectral Curve proposed in [71]. In view of the rather mysterious simplicity we observed for SU(N) spin chains, one can hope for hidden simplifications in the N = 4 theory and perhaps eventually obtain a framework allowing to access arbitrary correlators at finite coupling (despite impressive recent progress [11], this goal is far from having been accomplished). Let us also mention that the power of SoV in quantum field theory has already been demonstrated in various settings, see e.g. [72].
- It would be highly interesting to extend our construction to more general integrable models. This includes models based on trigonometric or elliptic R-matrices, spin chains with arbitrary representation of SU(N) at each site and Gaudin-type models. We hope that it should also apply to various boundary problems, for example it would be interesting to study the interplay of our methods with the off-diagonal Bethe ansatz [73, 74].
- In many ways our construction is much simpler than the conventional nested Bethe ansatz, so it would be very interesting to prove it rigorously. One way to achieve this would be to derive concise commutation relations between the transfer matrix and the operator B^{good} which creates the states (even though it is a challenging task, similar calculations were done in e.g. [75]). Knowing the commutation relations would also open the way to computing form factors for which only partial results are available in higher rank cases. It would also be interesting to try to obtain a proof using the variables canonically conjugated to the separated variables x_n , following an approach similar to the one we used to prove the construction for SU(2) with a generic matrix K (see appendix A).
- Deriving a compact expression for Sklyanin's measure in separated variables would further facilitate calculation of various observables for higher rank spin chains. This problem is particularly interesting for non-compact sl(n) spin chains with infinite dimensional representations at each site, where partial results for the measure and expressions for Q-operators are available [76, 77].

 $^{^{27}}$ See [70] for some direct calculations in the SU(3) sector.

- As our construction has a rather compact form compared to many of the other approaches, we hope it could be useful in attacking the challenging question of extending the celebrated Slavnov's determinant result for scalar products beyond the SU(2) case.
- It is curious that the *same* operator B^{good} allows to build the states just as well using a *dual* set of momentum-carrying Bethe roots, obtained via a duality transformation in the nested Bethe equations. Together with the presence of free parameters in B^{good} (as discussed in the end of section 5.2), this fact shows a surprising versatility of our construction whose implications remain to be understood.
- An interesting question is to better understand the algebraic structure of our operator B^{good} for SU(N), e.g. it might be possible to write it in terms of monodromy matrices in antisymmetric representations like in the SU(3) case (see (4.4)). Moreover, one can consider the operator built like B^{good} but using the elements of such a monodromy matrix instead of those of the usual T(u). We hope that the resulting operator may allow to generalize our construction to spin chains with other representations at each site.
- While we presented an explicit result for the *B* operator, it would be interesting to also build for SU(N) the *A* operator of Sklyanin [50], which provides variables canonically conjugated to the separated variables x_n .
- In our construction it is important that all twists and inhomogeneities are switched on. Taking the limit corresponding to the homogenous periodic XXX chain is nontrivial, but should be possible to accomplish.
- As the Q-functions feature prominently in our approach, it would be natural to look for links with the explicit construction of Q-operators from [78].
- Surprisingly, the SoV approach is completely undeveloped even for the simplest *super-symmetric* chains based on the su(1|1) superalgebra. It would be of great interest to generalize our conjecture to super-spin chains, for which various ways of constructing the eigenstates have been explored recently in [15, 79] (see also [75, 80, 81]).
- Finally, we hope that our results for the SU(N) case may help to shed light on algebraic structures underlying the SoV approach, which has close links with deep subjects in mathematics such as the Langlands correspondence [82–84]. It would be also interesting to explore possible relations with Talalaev's quantum spectral curve and the Manin matrices approach [63, 85] as well as with classical/quantum and spectral dualities in higher rank integrable models (see e.g. [86–91]).

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to J. Caetano, M. Heinze, Y. Jiang, V. Kazakov, S. Komatsu, I. Kostov, A. Liashyk, D. Medina, D. Serban, N. Slavnov, F. Smirnov, E. Sobko, S. Valatka,

B. Vicedo, J.-B. Wu, K. Zarembo and Y. Zenkevich for discussions and helpful comments, and to S. Valatka for collaboration at an early stage of this project. We are especially grateful to I. Kostov and D. Serban for many discussions. We also thank J. Caetano and Y. Jiang for sharing some of their Mathematica code. We would like to thank Ecole de Physique des Houches and Humboldt University Berlin, where a part of this work was done, for hospitality. The research leading to these results has received funding from the People Programme (Marie Curie Actions) of the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme FP7/2007- 2013/ under REA Grant Agreement No 317089 (GATIS), from European Research Council (Programme "Ideas" ERC- 2012-AdG 320769 AdS-CFT-solvable) and from the ANR grant StrongInt (BLANC- SIMI- 4-2011). This work was also supported by the grant "Exact Results in Gauge and String Theories" from the Knut and Alice Wallenberg foundation. We wish to thank STFC for support from Consolidated grant number ST/J002798/1.

A Proving the construction of eigenstates for a generic matrix K in the SU(2) case

In this section we present a proof of the fact (discussed in section 3.2) that for an SU(2) spin chain the operator B^{good} generates the eigenstates as

$$|\Psi\rangle = B^{\text{good}}(u_1)\dots B^{\text{good}}(u_M)|0\rangle \tag{A.1}$$

even if it is constructed using a generic matrix K. Let us remind that this matrix is used to build an improved monodromy matrix T^{good} from the original T (see (3.10)),

$$T^{\text{good}} = K^{-1}TK. \tag{A.2}$$

We will focus on the spin chain with fundamental representation at each site. The only assumption we make is that the spectrum of eigenvalues of the separated variables x_k is $\theta_k \pm i/2$ as discussed in the main text,²⁸ and their eigenstates form a basis in the Hilbert space labelled as $|\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_L\rangle$. For other representations of SU(2) the spectrum would be different but we expect a similar proof should work.

The main problem for generic K is that the vacuum $|0\rangle$ is not an eigenstate of $A^{\text{good}}(u)$ and $D^{\text{good}}(u)$, so the usual proof breaks down. Our strategy is to follow instead the SOV approach and use the variables canonically conjugated to x_k . Eventually we will arrive at the Baxter equation which we know is satisfied by the Q-function

$$Q_1(u) = \prod_{k=1}^{M} (u - u_k), \qquad (A.3)$$

which will complete the proof.

Roughly speaking the variables conjugated to x_k are given by $A^{\text{good}}(u)$ and $D^{\text{good}}(u)$ evaluated at $u = x_k$, but one should be careful with operator ordering [39]. Expanding

²⁸This statement likely can also be proven rigorously along the lines of appendix A in [41].

these operators as

$$A^{\text{good}}(u) = \sum_{n=0}^{L} A_n u^n, \quad D^{\text{good}}(u) = \sum_{n=0}^{L} D_n u^n,$$
 (A.4)

we define

$$A^{\text{good}}(x_k) = \sum_{n=0}^{L} (x_k)^n A_n, \quad D^{\text{good}}(x_k) = \sum_{n=0}^{L} (x_k)^n D_n.$$
(A.5)

Then from the RTT commutation relations it follows that [39]

$$A^{\text{good}}(x_k)x_n = (x_n - i\delta_{kn})A^{\text{good}}(x_k), \quad D^{\text{good}}(x_k)x_n = (x_n + i\delta_{kn})D^{\text{good}}(x_k)$$
(A.6)

(note that T^{good} satisfies the same RTT algebra as the original T). This means that $A^{\text{good}}(x_k)$ and $D^{\text{good}}(x_k)$ act as raising and lowering operators,²⁹ so we have

$$\langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L | A^{\text{good}}(x_k) = F_{1k}(\mathbf{x}) \langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k - i, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L |, \qquad (A.7)$$

$$\langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L | D^{\text{good}}(x_k) = F_{2k}(\mathbf{x}) \langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k + i, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L |, \qquad (A.8)$$

where $F_{1k}(\mathbf{x}), F_{2k}(\mathbf{x})$ are some scalar coefficients. Let us explain how to fix them.

First, since there is no state with eigenvalue of x_k equal to $\theta_k - 3i/2$, we must have³⁰

$$F_{1k}(\mathbf{x}) = 0 \quad \text{when} \quad \mathbf{x}_k = \theta_k - i/2 \,. \tag{A.9}$$

Similarly,

$$F_{2k}(\mathbf{x}) = 0$$
 when $\mathbf{x}_k = \theta_k + i/2$. (A.10)

To compute the remaining nonzero coefficients let us consider the matrix element

$$\mathcal{M} = \langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \theta_k + i/2, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L | \left(A^{\text{good}}(x_k) + D^{\text{good}}(x_k) \right) | 0 \rangle$$
(A.11)

i.e. we chose $x_k = \theta_k + i/2$. On the one hand, $D^{\text{good}}(x_k)$ annihilates this bra vector, so using (A.7) and our normalization

$$\langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L | 0 \rangle = 1, \qquad (A.12)$$

we see that the matrix element (A.11) is given by

$$\mathcal{M} = F_{1k}(\mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \theta_k + i/2, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L).$$
(A.13)

On the other hand, due to the ordering in (A.5) we can act with operators x_k directly on the bra state, so the operator x_k in the argument of A^{good} and D^{good} can be replaced by the constant $\theta_k + i/2$. While $|0\rangle$ is not an eigenvector of A^{good} or D^{good} , it is still an

²⁹Therefore e.g. log $(A^{\text{good}}(x_k))$ would have canonical commutation relations with the x_n operators.

³⁰For spin chains with other representations of SU(2) it may be possible to lower the eigenvalue to $\theta_k - 3i/2$ and even beyond. However at some point this process should terminate as otherwise we would get an infinite-dimensional Hilbert space. We hope therefore that a similar proof should work for other SU(2) representations as well.

eigenvector of $A^{\text{good}}(\theta_k + i/2) + D^{\text{good}}(\theta_k + i/2)$, because the transformation (A.2) does not change the trace of the monodromy matrix. The eigenvalue is given by

$$\left(A^{\text{good}}(u) + D^{\text{good}}(u)\right)|0\rangle = \left(\lambda_1 Q_{\theta}^+(u) + \lambda_2 Q_{\theta}^-(u)\right)|0\rangle, \qquad (A.14)$$

and substituting $u = \theta_k + i/2$ into this expression we see that the term with λ_2 drops out. This means that the matrix element (A.11) is equal to $\lambda_1 Q_{\theta}^+(\theta_k + i/2)$. In combination with (A.13) this finally gives

$$F_{1k}(\mathbf{x}_1,\ldots,\theta_k+i/2,\ldots,\mathbf{x}_L) = \lambda_1 Q_{\theta}^+(\theta_k+i/2).$$
(A.15)

We can write this result and (A.9) in a uniform way as

$$F_{1k}(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_1 Q_{\theta}^+(\mathbf{x}_k) \,. \tag{A.16}$$

Similarly, one can show that

$$F_{2k}(\mathbf{x}) = \lambda_2 Q_{\theta}^{-}(\mathbf{x}_k) \,. \tag{A.17}$$

Having found the coefficients F_{1k} , F_{2k} it is now rather easy to complete the proof. As the transfer matrix is a polynomial in u, it is enough to show that $|\Psi\rangle$ is its eigenstate at L distinct values of u. We will consider $u = \theta_k \pm i/2$ for all k which gives more than enough points.

Namely, let us evaluate the scalar product

$$S = \langle \mathbf{x} | \left(A^{\text{good}}(x_k) + D^{\text{good}}(x_k) \right) | \Psi \rangle$$
 (A.18)

in two different ways like we just did for the case when $|\Psi\rangle$ is simply $|0\rangle$. First, due to the ordering in (A.5) we can again replace the operator x_k by its eigenvalue x_k , so that

$$S = \langle \mathbf{x} | \left(A^{\text{good}}(\mathbf{x}_k) + D^{\text{good}}(\mathbf{x}_k) \right) | \Psi \rangle .$$
 (A.19)

The operator appearing here is precisely the transfer matrix at $u = \theta_k \pm i/2$. Alternatively, we can use the fact that $A^{\text{good}}(x_k)$ and $D^{\text{good}}(x_k)$ act as shift operator on $\langle \mathbf{x} |$, so that

$$\mathcal{S} = \lambda_1 Q_{\theta}^+(\mathbf{x}_k) \langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k - i, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L | \Psi \rangle + \lambda_2 Q_{\theta}^-(\mathbf{x}_k) \langle \mathbf{x}_1, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k + i, \dots, \mathbf{x}_L | \Psi \rangle$$
(A.20)

where we used (A.7), (A.8), (A.16), (A.17). The scalar products appearing here are just products of Q-functions, so using (3.8) we get

$$S = \left[\lambda_1 Q_{\theta}^+(\mathbf{x}_k) Q_1^{--}(\mathbf{x}_k) + \lambda_2 Q_{\theta}^-(\mathbf{x}_k) Q_1^{++}(\mathbf{x}_k)\right] (-1)^{ML} \prod_{j \neq k}^L Q_j(\mathbf{x}_j).$$
(A.21)

Inside the square brackets we recognize part of the Baxter equation! The equation itself reads

$$\tau(u)Q_1(u) = \lambda_1 Q_{\theta}^+(u)Q_1^{--}(u) + \lambda_2 Q_{\theta}^-(u)Q_1^{++}(u), \qquad (A.22)$$

where $\tau(u)$ is the transfer matrix eigenvalue. This means that

$$\mathcal{S} = \tau(\mathbf{x}_k) Q_1(\mathbf{x}_k) (-1)^{ML} \prod_{j \neq k}^L Q_j(\mathbf{x}_j) , \qquad (A.23)$$

which can also be written as

$$\mathcal{S} = \langle \mathbf{x} | \tau(\mathbf{x}_k) | \Psi \rangle \,. \tag{A.24}$$

Comparing the last expression with (A.19) we see that for all $\langle x |$ we have

$$\langle \mathbf{x} | \left(A^{\text{good}}(\mathbf{x}_k) + D^{\text{good}}(\mathbf{x}_k) \right) | \Psi \rangle = \langle \mathbf{x} | \tau(\mathbf{x}_k) | \Psi \rangle.$$
 (A.25)

Since the states $\langle \mathbf{x} |$ form a complete basis, we get

$$\left(A^{\text{good}}(\mathbf{x}_k) + D^{\text{good}}(\mathbf{x}_k)\right) |\Psi\rangle = \tau(\mathbf{x}_k) |\Psi\rangle .$$
 (A.26)

In other words, $|\Psi\rangle$ is an eigenstate of the transfer matrix when $u = \theta_k \pm i/2$. The polynomiality of the transfer matrix now guarantees that $|\Psi\rangle$ is its eigenstate for any u, thus completing the proof.

B Derivation of the norm for SU(2) spin chains

Here we give technical details on the derivation of the norm of a spin chain eigenstate in the SU(2) case, mentioned in the main text in section 3.3.

In order to find the norm of a state it is convenient to consider it together with another one, corresponding to the dual set of Bethe roots. Below we use the following notation:

$$\{u_{k=1...M}\}$$
 and $\{v_{k=1...L-M}\},$ (B.1)

are the original set of Bethe roots and the dual roots, satisfying the Bethe equations, while

$$|\Psi_1^{std}\rangle = B(u_1)\dots B(u_M)|0\rangle \quad \text{and} \quad |\Psi_2^{std}\rangle = C(v_1)\dots C(v_{L-M})|0'\rangle \tag{B.2}$$

are the two states we consider, with $|0\rangle$ and $|0'\rangle$ being the usual vacuum and the dual vacuum (defined in (2.9), (3.18)). By N_1, N_2 we denote the norms of the states (B.2). We will study the case when the twists satisfy

$$\lambda_1 = 1/\lambda_2 = 1/\lambda_1^*, \tag{B.3}$$

and accordingly the set of Bethe roots $\{u_k\}$ is invariant under complex conjugation (the same is true for dual roots $\{v_k\}$).

In the first subsection below we derive an expression for the ratio of norms of these two states via SoV, and in the second one we obtain an expression for their product via the usual Gaudin's formula. In the second part we compute as an intermediate step the variation of Q-functions with respect to the inhomogeneities. Combining the ratio and the product of the norms, we obtain the final result for the individual norm N_1 , given in (B.41).

B.1 Ratio of the norms

To derive the ratio of the norms we will make use of construction of the states via the operator B^{good} which provides separated variables for our spin chain. When building this operator it is convenient to choose the matrix K in (3.10) to be of the form

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha}} & -\frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha}} \\ 0 & \sqrt{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$$
(B.4)

and to multiply B^{good} by an extra overall factor of $1/(\lambda_2 - \lambda_1)$ as in (3.23), so that we get

$$B^{\text{good}} = \frac{\alpha B - 1/\alpha C - A + D}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} \,. \tag{B.5}$$

Here α is an unfixed parameter which we retain for convenience. Consider the left eigenvector of B^{good} with all eigenvalues of the form $\theta_k + i/2$, denoted as $\langle +\cdots + + |$. We have observed that

$$\langle +\dots + +|0'\rangle = \left(\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2\alpha}\right)^L \langle +\dots + +|0\rangle.$$
 (B.6)

We have checked this curious fact for the first several L's, and leave a general proof for the future.

Let us introduce two states analogous to $|\Psi_1^{std}\rangle$ and $|\Psi_2^{std}\rangle$ but created with the operator B^{good} instead of B and C:

$$|\Psi_1\rangle = B^{\text{good}}(u_1)\dots B^{\text{good}}(u_L)|0\rangle, \quad |\Psi_2\rangle = B^{\text{good}}(v_1)\dots B^{\text{good}}(v_{L-M})|0'\rangle. \tag{B.7}$$

As we explained in section 3.2, the same operator $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ allows to construct the states using either usual Bethe roots or dual Bethe roots. This means that the two states (B.7) are both eigenvectors of T(u) with the same eigenvalue, so they should be collinear,³¹ i.e. for some c

$$|\Psi_1\rangle = c|\Psi_2\rangle. \tag{B.8}$$

Let us find the constant c. To this end, consider the scalar product $\langle +\cdots + +|\Psi_1\rangle$. Since $|\Psi\rangle$ was created with the operator $B^{\text{good}}(u)$ and $\langle +\cdots + +|$ is an eigenstate of $B^{\text{good}}(u)$, we get

$$\langle +\dots + + |\Psi_1\rangle = \langle +\dots + + |0\rangle \prod_{k=1}^{L} (-1)^M Q_1^+(\theta_k).$$
 (B.9)

Similarly,

$$\langle +\dots + + |\Psi_2\rangle = \langle +\dots + + |0'\rangle \prod_{k=1}^{L} (-1)^{L-M} Q_2^+(\theta_k).$$
 (B.10)

Using the relation (B.6) we get

$$\langle +\dots + +|\Psi_2\rangle = \langle +\dots + +|0\rangle \left(\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2\alpha}\right)^L \prod_{k=1}^L (-1)^{L-M} Q_2^+(\theta_k), \qquad (B.11)$$

and thus

$$c = \left(\frac{\alpha\lambda_2}{\lambda_1}\right)^L \prod_{k=1}^L (-1)^L \frac{Q_1^+(\theta_k)}{Q_2^+(\theta_k)}.$$
 (B.12)

We also observed that

$$|\Psi_1\rangle = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1}\right)^M |\Psi_1^{std}\rangle, \quad |\Psi_2\rangle = \left(-\frac{1/\alpha}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1}\right)^{L-M} |\Psi_2^{std}\rangle. \tag{B.13}$$

³¹We recall that with for nontrivial twists λ_1, λ_2 all eigenvalues of the transfer matrix have multiplicity one.

We have checked this identity for the first several values of L and postpone a rigorous proof to later work. These relations allow us to express the ratio of norms of $|\Psi_1^{std}\rangle$ and $|\Psi_2^{std}\rangle$ through the ratio of norms of $|\Psi_1\rangle$ and $|\Psi_2\rangle$, which is equal to |c|, so finally we get the simple result

$$N_1/N_2 = \left| (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1)^{2M-L} \prod_{k=1}^L \frac{Q_1^+(\theta_k)}{Q_2^+(\theta_k)} \right|.$$
 (B.14)

B.2 Product of the norms

Let us now calculate the product of norms of the states $|\Psi_1^{std}\rangle$ and $|\Psi_2^{std}\rangle$ in terms of the Q-functions. Each of the norms is given by the Gaudin formula [46],

$$N_1^2 = (i\lambda_1\lambda_2)^M \prod_{\substack{k=1...M\\n=1...L}} \left((u_k - \theta_n)^2 + \frac{1}{4} \right) \prod_{j < k} \left(1 + \frac{1}{(u_j - u_k)^2} \right) \det \frac{\partial f_k^{(1)}}{\partial u_l}, \quad (B.15)$$

$$N_2^2 = (i\lambda_1\lambda_2)^{L-M} \prod_{\substack{k=1...L-M\\n=1...L}} \left((v_k - \theta_n)^2 + \frac{1}{4} \right) \prod_{j < k} \left(1 + \frac{1}{(v_j - v_k)^2} \right) \det \frac{\partial f_k^{(2)}}{\partial v_l}, \quad (B.16)$$

where

$$f_k^{(1)} = \sum_{i=1}^L \ln\left(\frac{u_k - \theta_i + i/2}{u_k - \theta_i - i/2}\right) + \sum_{i=1}^M \ln\left(\frac{u_k - u_i - i}{u_k - u_i + i}\right),$$
(B.17)

$$f_k^{(2)} = \sum_{i=1}^L \ln\left(\frac{v_k - \theta_i + i/2}{v_k - \theta_i - i/2}\right) + \sum_{i=1}^{L-M} \ln\left(\frac{v_k - v_i - i}{v_k - v_i + i}\right).$$
 (B.18)

We see that in the product of these two norms, a product of the Jacobians will appear. The trick we will use is rewriting this product in a simpler form by switching between variables $\{u_j, v_j\}$ and $\{\theta_n\}$.

Namely, let us define a function

$$F = \ln \frac{z^+}{z^-},\tag{B.19}$$

with

$$z = \frac{\lambda_2 Q_1^+ Q_2^- - \lambda_1 Q_1^- Q_2^+}{(\lambda_2 - \lambda_1) Q_\theta}.$$
 (B.20)

We will pack $\{u_i\}$ and $\{v_j\}$ into one vector $\{U_k\} = \{u_1, \ldots, u_M, v_1, \ldots, v_{L-M}\}$ and denote $F_k \equiv F(U_k)$. Then

$$F_k = -f_k^{(1)} + \ln\left(-\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_1}\right),$$
 $k = 1, \dots, M,$ (B.21)

$$F_k = -f_k^{(2)} + \ln\left(-\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2}\right),$$
 $k = M + 1, \dots, L.$ (B.22)

Consider the Jacobian $\frac{\partial F_k}{\partial U_n}$. On the one hand, this matrix is block-diagonal, so

$$\det \frac{\partial F_k}{\partial U_n} = (-1)^L \det \frac{\partial f^{(1)}(u_k)}{\partial u_n} \det \frac{\partial f^{(2)}(v_k)}{\partial v_n} \,. \tag{B.23}$$

On the other hand, using the chain rule we have 32

$$\det \frac{\partial F_k}{\partial U_n} = -\det \frac{\partial F_k}{\partial \theta_p} \det \frac{\partial \theta_p}{\partial U_n}.$$
 (B.24)

The first Jacobian in this product is easy to compute, and we get

$$\frac{\partial F_k}{\partial \theta_p} = R_k \frac{i}{(U_k - \theta_p)^2 + \frac{1}{4}}, \qquad (B.25)$$

where

$$R_{k} = \begin{cases} 1, & k = 1 \dots M \\ -1, & k = M + 1 \dots L \end{cases}$$
(B.26)

The second Jacobian in (B.24) can be calculated using the QQ-relation

$$\lambda_2 Q_1^+ Q_2^- - \lambda_1 Q_1^- Q_2^+ = (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1) Q_\theta \,. \tag{B.27}$$

Indeed, let us vary one θ_l in (B.27) infinitesimally, then the solutions of Bethe equations u_i and v_i will vary as well, but the equation should still hold, so we get

$$-\sum_{k=1}^{M} \left(\lambda_2 \frac{Q_1^+ Q_2^-}{u - u_k + i/2} - \lambda_1 \frac{Q_1^- Q_2^+}{u - u_k - i/2}\right) \delta u_k \tag{B.28}$$

$$-\sum_{k=1}^{L-M} \left(\lambda_2 \frac{Q_1^+ Q_2^-}{u - v_k - i/2} - \lambda_1 \frac{Q_1^- Q_2^+}{u - v_k + i/2} \right) \delta v_k = (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1) \frac{\partial Q_\theta}{\partial \theta_l} \delta \theta_l \,. \tag{B.29}$$

Evaluating this equation on $u = \theta_n$ and noticing that (B.27) implies that

$$\lambda_2 Q_1^+(\theta_n) Q_2^-(\theta_n) = \lambda_1 Q_1^-(\theta_n) Q_2^+(\theta_n) , \qquad (B.30)$$

we get

$$\sum_{k=1}^{L} R_k \frac{\delta U_k}{\delta \theta_l} i \frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} \frac{\partial Q_\theta(\theta_n)}{\partial \theta_n} \frac{Q_1^+(\theta_n) Q_2^-(\theta_n)}{(\theta_n - U_k)^2 + 1/4} = \delta_{ln} \,. \tag{B.31}$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{\partial \theta_m}{\partial U_k} = R_k \frac{i\lambda_2}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} \frac{Q_1^+(\theta_m)Q_2^-(\theta_m)}{\prod\limits_{n \neq m} (\theta_n - \theta_m)} \frac{i}{(U_k - \theta_m)^2 + \frac{1}{4}}.$$
(B.32)

Plugging this back into (B.24) gives

$$\det \frac{\partial F_k}{\partial U_n} = \left(\frac{i\lambda_2}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1}\right)^L \frac{\prod_m Q_1^+(\theta_m)Q_2^-(\theta_m)}{\prod_{n < m} (\theta_n - \theta_m)^2} \left(\det \frac{i}{(U_k - \theta_m)^2 + \frac{1}{4}}\right)^2.$$
(B.33)

We can now multiply the starting expressions (B.15), (B.16) for the norms and express the product det $\frac{\partial f^{(1)}(u_k)}{\partial u_n} \det \frac{\partial f^{(2)}(v_k)}{\partial v_n}$ through (B.23) and (B.24). Finally we use (B.33) to get

³²Notice that if Bethe equations are satisfied, $F_k = 0$.

L

an important intermediate result,

ī

$$(N_1 N_2)^2 = (-1)^L \left(\frac{i\lambda_2}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1}\right)^L \prod_n Q_1^+(\theta_n) Q_1^-(\theta_n) Q_2^+(\theta_n) Q_2^-(\theta_n)$$
(B.34)

$$\times \prod_{n < m} \left(1 + \frac{1}{(u_n - u_m)^2} \right) \prod_{i < j} \left(1 + \frac{1}{(v_i - v_j)^2} \right)$$
(B.35)

$$\times \frac{\prod_{m} Q_1(\theta_m) Q_2(\theta_m)}{\prod_{n < m} (\theta_n - \theta_m)^2} \left(\det \frac{i}{(U_k - \theta_m)^2 + \frac{1}{4}} \right)^2.$$
(B.36)

Now let us simplify this expression. First we can expand the determinant using the identity 33

$$\det \frac{i}{(U_k - \theta_m)^2 + \frac{1}{4}} = \sum_{\{s_i = \pm 1\}} \prod_{i=1}^L s_i \det \frac{i}{U_k - \theta_m + \frac{is_m}{2}}.$$
 (B.37)

Applying the Cauchy determinant formula to each of the individual determinants, we obtain

$$|N_1 N_2|^2 = \left| \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} \right)^L \prod_{n < m} \left(1 + (u_n - u_m)^2 \right) \prod_{i < j} \left(1 + (v_i - v_j)^2 \right) \prod_{m,n} (u_m - v_n)^2 \right| \\ \times \left| \frac{\left(\prod_m Q_1^+(\theta_m) Q_2^-(\theta_m) \right)^3}{\prod_{n < m} (\theta_n - \theta_m)^2} \left(\sum_{\{s_i = \pm 1\}} \prod_{i=1}^L s_i \frac{\prod_{m < n} [\theta_n - \theta_m + i\frac{s_n}{2} - i\frac{s_m}{2}]}{\prod_m Q_1^{[s_m]}(\theta_m) Q_2^{[s_m]}(\theta_m)} \right)^2 \right|.$$

Next, we notice that for any sets $\{u_k\}, \{v_k\}$ (regardless of Bethe equations)

$$\prod_{n < m} \left(1 + (u_n - u_m)^2 \right) \prod_{i < j} \left(1 + (v_i - v_j)^2 \right) \prod_{m,n} (u_m - v_n)^2$$
$$= C \prod_n Q_1^{++}(u_n) Q_2(u_n) \prod_m Q_1(v_m) Q_2^{--}(v_m) \,,$$

where the irrelevant constant C is i to some integer power. Using that as a consequence of (B.27) we have

$$\lambda_2 Q_1^{++}(u_k) Q_2(u_k) = (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1) Q_{\theta}^{+}(u_k), \qquad (B.38)$$

$$\lambda_2 Q_1(v_k) Q_2^{--}(v_k) = (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1) Q_{\theta}^{-}(v_k), \qquad (B.39)$$

we get

$$\left| \prod_{n < m} \left(1 + (u_n - u_m)^2 \right) \prod_{i < j} \left(1 + (v_i - v_j)^2 \right) \prod_{m, n} (u_m - v_n)^2 \right|$$
$$= \left| (\lambda_1 - \lambda_2)^L \prod_{k=1}^M Q_{\theta}^+(u_k) \prod_{k=1}^{L-M} Q_{\theta}^-(v_k) \right|,$$

 $^{^{33}}$ This identity can be easily proven by writing the determinant as a sum over permutations and representing each matrix element as a sum of two simple fractions. Then after expansion of each product we get a sum over 2^n combination of signs. The order of the two sums (over permutations and over signs) can be switched, so the sums over permutations are reassembled in 2^n determinants.

which after some cancellations and application of (B.30) results in

$$|N_1 N_2| = \left| \sum_{\{s_i = \pm 1\}} \prod_{i=1}^L s_i \prod_{m < n} \frac{\left[\theta_n - \theta_m + i\frac{s_n}{2} - i\frac{s_m}{2} \right]}{\theta_n - \theta_m} \prod_m Q_1^{[-s_m]}(\theta_m) Q_2^{[-s_m]}(\theta_m) \right|, \quad (B.40)$$

where we have taken into account that $\lambda_1 = 1/\lambda_2$. This is the final result for the product of the norms.

As a last step we combine this result with the formula (B.14) for the ratio of the norms, which gives the result for the norm of the usual transfer matrix eigenstate $|\Psi_1^{std}\rangle$ from (B.2) in terms of Q-functions only,

$$N_{1} = \left| \sum_{\{s_{i}=\pm1\}} \prod_{i=1}^{L} s_{i} \prod_{m(B.41)$$

C The B operator for SU(N) with N = 2, 3, 4, 5

Here we explicitly write the B operator for spin chains with SU(N) symmetry with $2 \le N \le 5$. The general result for any SU(N) is given in (5.12) and explicit expressions are:

$$\begin{split} &\mathrm{SU}(2): \quad B(u) = T_{1|2}(u) \\ &\mathrm{SU}(3): \quad B(u) = \sum_{j} T_{j|3}(u) T_{12|j3}(u-i) \\ &\mathrm{SU}(4): \quad B(u) = \sum_{j,k} T_{j|4}(u) T_{k|j4}(u-i) T_{123|k4}(u-2i) \\ &\mathrm{SU}(5): \quad B(u) = \sum_{j,k,l} T_{j|5}(u) T_{k|j5}(u-i) T_{l|k5}(u-2i) T_{1234|l5}(u-3i) \end{split}$$

These formulas are written in terms of quantum minors defined in (5.1). We used a shorthand notation

$$k = \{k_1, k_2\}, \ l = \{l_1, l_2, l_3\}$$
 (C.1)

and for SU(N) the sum runs over the values of indices j, k_n, l_n from 1 to N - 1 with

$$k_1 < k_2, \quad l_1 < l_2 < l_3.$$
 (C.2)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- H. Bethe, On the theory of metals. 1. Eigenvalues and eigenfunctions for the linear atomic chain, Z. Phys. 71 (1931) 205 [INSPIRE].
- [2] L.D. Faddeev, How algebraic Bethe ansatz works for integrable model, hep-th/9605187
 [INSPIRE].
- B. Sutherland, Beautiful Models: 70 Years of Exactly Solved Quantum Many-Body Problems, World Scientific, (2004).
- [4] F.H.L. Essler, H. Frahm, F. Goehmann, A. Kluemper and V.E. Korepin, *The One-Dimensional Hubbard Model*, Cambridge University Press (2005).
- [5] A. Kundu, Quantum integrable systems: Construction, solution, algebraic aspect, hep-th/9612046 [INSPIRE].
- [6] D. Bombardelli et al., An integrability primer for the gauge-gravity correspondence: An introduction, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 320301 [arXiv:1606.02945] [INSPIRE].
- [7] J. Escobedo, N. Gromov, A. Sever and P. Vieira, *Tailoring Three-Point Functions and Integrability*, JHEP 09 (2011) 028 [arXiv:1012.2475] [INSPIRE].
- [8] N. Gromov and P. Vieira, Quantum Integrability for Three-Point Functions of Maximally Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 211601 [arXiv:1202.4103]
 [INSPIRE].
- [9] P. Vieira and T. Wang, Tailoring Non-Compact Spin Chains, JHEP 10 (2014) 35 [arXiv:1311.6404] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J. Caetano and T. Fleury, Three-point functions and su (1|1) spin chains, JHEP 09 (2014) 173 [arXiv:1404.4128] [INSPIRE].
- [11] B. Basso, S. Komatsu and P. Vieira, Structure Constants and Integrable Bootstrap in Planar N = 4 SYM Theory, arXiv:1505.06745 [INSPIRE].
- [12] N. Beisert et al., Review of AdS/CFT Integrability: An Overview, Lett. Math. Phys. 99 (2012) 3 [arXiv:1012.3982] [INSPIRE].
- B. Sutherland, A General Model for Multicomponent Quantum Systems, Phys. Rev. B 12 (1975) 3795 [INSPIRE].
- [14] P.P. Kulish and N. Yu. Reshetikhin, Diagonalization Of GL(n) Invariant Transfer Matrices And Quantum N Wave System (Lee Model), J. Phys. A 16 (1983) L591 [INSPIRE].
- [15] S. Belliard and É. Ragoucy, Nested Bethe ansatz for 'all' closed spin chains, J. Phys. A 41 (2008) 295202 [arXiv:0804.2822] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Belliard, S. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Bethe vectors of GL(3)-invariant integrable models, J. Stat. Mech. 1302 (2013) P02020 [arXiv:1210.0768] [INSPIRE].
- [17] V. Tarasov and A. Varchenko, Jackson integral representations for solutions of the quantized Knizhnik-Zamolodchikov equation, Algebra i Analiz 6 (1994) 90 St. Petersburg Math. J. 6 (1995) 275 (English translation) [hep-th/9311040] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Pakuliak and S. Khoroshkin, The weight function for the quantum affine algebra $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$, Theor. Math. Phys. 145 (2005) 1373 [math/0610433].
- [19] S. Khoroshkin, S. Pakuliak and V. Tarasov, Off-shell Bethe vectors and Drinfeld currents, J. Geom. Phys. 57 (2007) 1713 [math/0610517].

- [20] S. Khoroshkin and S. Pakuliak. A computation of universal weight function for quantum affine algebra $U_a(gl_N)$, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 48 (2008) 277 [arXiv:0711.2819].
- [21] L. Frappat, S. Khoroshkin, S. Pakuliak and E. Ragoucy, Bethe Ansatz for the Universal Weight Function, Annales Henri Poincaré 10 (2009) 513 [arXiv:0810.3135].
- [22] A. Oskin, S. Pakuliak and A. Silantyev. On the universal weight function for the quantum affine algebra $U_q(\widehat{gl}_N)$, St. Petersburg Math. J. **21** (2010) 651 [arXiv:0711.2821].
- [23] S. Belliard, S. Pakuliak and É. Ragoucy, Bethe Ansatz and Bethe Vectors Scalar Products, SIGMA 6 (2010) 094 [arXiv:1012.1455] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Bethe vectors of quantum integrable models based on $U_q(\widehat{\mathfrak{gl}}_N)$, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 105202 [arXiv:1310.3253] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S. Belliard, S. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Bethe Vectors of Quantum Integrable Models with GL(3) Trigonometric R-Matrix, SIGMA 9 (2013) 058 [arXiv:1304.7602]
 [INSPIRE].
- [26] K. Hao, J. Cao, G.-L. Li, W.-L. Yang, K. Shi and Y. Wang, A representation basis for the quantum integrable spin chain associated with the SU(3) algebra, JHEP 05 (2016) 119 [arXiv:1601.04771] [INSPIRE].
- [27] T.D. Albert, H. Boos, R. Flume and K. Ruhlig, Resolution of the nested hierarchy for rational sl(n) models, J. Phys. A 33 (2000) 4963 [nlin/0002027] [INSPIRE].
- [28] N.A. Slavnov, Scalar products in GL(3)-based models with trigonometric R-matrix. Determinant representation, J. Stat. Mech. 1503 (2015) P03019 [arXiv:1501.06253]
 [INSPIRE].
- [29] S. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, GL(3)-Based Quantum Integrable Composite Models. I. Bethe Vectors, SIGMA 11 (2015) 063 [arXiv:1501.07566] [INSPIRE].
- [30] S.Z. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Determinant representations for form factors in quantum integrable models with the GL(3)-invariant R-matrix, Theor. Math. Phys. 181 (2014) 1566 [arXiv:1406.5125] [INSPIRE].
- [31] S. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Zero modes method and form factors in quantum integrable models, Nucl. Phys. B 893 (2015) 459 [arXiv:1412.6037] [INSPIRE].
- [32] S. Belliard, S. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Highest coefficient of scalar products in SU(3)-invariant integrable models, J. Stat. Mech. 1209 (2012) P09003 [arXiv:1206.4931]
 [INSPIRE].
- [33] S. Belliard et al., Algebraic Bethe ansatz for scalar products in SU(3)-invariant integrable models, J. Stat. Mech. 1210 (2012) P10017 [arXiv:1207.0956] [INSPIRE].
- [34] S. Belliard, S. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Form factors in SU(3)-invariant integrable models, J. Stat. Mech. 1304 (2013) P04033 [arXiv:1211.3968] [INSPIRE].
- [35] S. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Form factors in quantum integrable models with GL(3)-invariant R-matrix, Nucl. Phys. B 881 (2014) 343 [arXiv:1312.1488] [INSPIRE].
- [36] S. Pakuliak, E. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, GL(3)-Based Quantum Integrable Composite Models. II. Form Factors of Local Operators, SIGMA 11 (2015) 064 [arXiv:1502.01966] [INSPIRE].
- [37] S.Z. Pakuliak, E. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Scalar products in models with a GL(3) trigonometric R-matrix: Highest coefficient, Theor. Math. Phys. 178 (2014) 314 [Teor. Mat. Fiz. 178 (2014) 363] [INSPIRE].

- [38] E.K. Sklyanin, Quantum inverse scattering method. Selected topics, in Quantum Group and Quantum Integrable Systems: Nankai Lectures on Mathematical Physics: Nankai Institute of Mathematics, China 2–18 April 1991 (World Scientific 1992), pp. 63–97, hep-th/9211111 [INSPIRE].
- [39] E.K. Sklyanin, Separation of variables new trends, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 118 (1995) 35 [solv-int/9504001] [INSPIRE].
- [40] N. Kitanine, J.M. Maillet, G. Niccoli and V. Terras, The open XXX spin chain in the SoV framework: scalar product of separate states, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 224001 [arXiv:1606.06917] [INSPIRE].
- [41] Y. Kazama, S. Komatsu and T. Nishimura, A new integral representation for the scalar products of Bethe states for the XXX spin chain, JHEP 09 (2013) 013 [arXiv:1304.5011]
 [INSPIRE].
- [42] G. Niccoli, Antiperiodic spin-1/2 XXZ quantum chains by separation of variables: Complete spectrum and form factors, Nucl. Phys. B 870 (2013) 397 [arXiv:1205.4537] [INSPIRE].
- [43] D. Levy-Bencheton, G. Niccoli and V. Terras, Antiperiodic dynamical 6-vertex model by separation of variables II: Functional equations and form factors, J. Stat. Mech. 1603 (2016) 033110 [arXiv:1507.03404] [INSPIRE].
- [44] G. Niccoli and V. Terras, Antiperiodic XXZ chains with arbitrary spins: Complete eigenstate construction by functional equations in separation of variables, Lett. Math. Phys. 105 (2015) 989 [arXiv:1411.6488] [INSPIRE].
- [45] Y. Jiang, S. Komatsu, I. Kostov and D. Serban, The hexagon in the mirror: the three-point function in the SoV representation, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 174007 [arXiv:1506.09088]
 [INSPIRE].
- [46] V.E. Korepin, Calculation of norms of Bethe wave functions, Commun. Math. Phys. 86 (1982) 391 [INSPIRE].
- [47] N. Kitanine, J.M. Maillet, G. Niccoli and V. Terras, On determinant representations of scalar products and form factors in the SoV approach: the XXX case, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 104002 [arXiv:1506.02630] [INSPIRE].
- [48] N. Kitanine, J.M. Maillet and G. Niccoli, Open spin chains with generic integrable boundaries: Baxter equation and Bethe ansatz completeness from separation of variables, J. Stat. Mech. 1405 (2014) P05015 [arXiv:1401.4901] [INSPIRE].
- [49] E.K. Sklyanin, New approach to the quantum nonlinear Schrödinger equation, J. Phys. A 22 (1989) 3551 [INSPIRE].
- [50] E.K. Sklyanin, Separation of variables in the quantum integrable models related to the Yangian Y[sl(3)], J. Math. Sci. 80 (1996) 1861 [hep-th/9212076] [INSPIRE].
- [51] E.K. Sklyanin, Separation of variables in the classical integrable SL(3) magnetic chain, Commun. Math. Phys. 150 (1992) 181 [hep-th/9211126] [INSPIRE].
- [52] N. Gromov and P. Vieira, Complete 1-loop test of AdS/CFT, JHEP 04 (2008) 046 [arXiv:0709.3487] [INSPIRE].
- [53] D. Volin, Quantum integrability and functional equations: Applications to the spectral problem of AdS/CFT and two-dimensional σ -models, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 124003 [arXiv:1003.4725] [INSPIRE].
- [54] N. Gromov, V. Kazakov, S. Leurent and D. Volin, Quantum spectral curve for arbitrary state/operator in AdS₅/CFT₄, JHEP 09 (2015) 187 [arXiv:1405.4857] [INSPIRE].

- [55] H. Frahm and N. Karaiskos, Non-Abelian SU(3)_k anyons: inversion identities for higher rank face models, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 484001 [arXiv:1506.00822] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Molev, Yangians and Classical Lie Algebras, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs 143, AMS, Providence, RI, U.S.A. (2007).
- [57] D.R.D. Scott, Classical functional Bethe ansatz for SL(N): Separation of variables for the magnetic chain, J. Math. Phys. 35 (1994) 5831 [hep-th/9403030] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M.I. Gekhtman, Separation of variables in the classical SL(N) magnetic chain, Comm. Math. Phys. 167 (1995) 593, http://projecteuclid.org/euclid.cmp/1104272160.
- [59] M.R. Adams, J.P. Harnad and J. Hurtubise, Darboux coordinates and Liouville-Arnold integration in loop algebras, Commun. Math. Phys. 155 (1993) 385 [hep-th/9210089] [INSPIRE].
- [60] P. Diener and B.A. Dubrovin, Algebraic-geometrical Darboux coordinates in R matrix formalism, SISSA-88-94-FM.
- [61] G. Falqui and F. Musso, On Separation of Variables for Homogeneous SL(r) Gaudin Systems, Math. Phys. Anal. Geom. 9 (2007) 233.
- [62] F. Smirnov, Separation of variables for quantum integrable models related to $U_q(sl_N)$ math-ph/0109013.
- [63] A. Chervov and G. Falqui, Manin matrices and Talalaev's formula, J. Phys. A 41 (2008) 194006 [arXiv:0711.2236] [INSPIRE].
- [64] Y. Kazama, S. Komatsu and T. Nishimura, Classical Integrability for Three-point Functions: Cognate Structure at Weak and Strong Couplings, JHEP 10 (2016) 042 [arXiv:1603.03164]
 [INSPIRE].
- [65] Y. Kazama, S. Komatsu and T. Nishimura, On the singlet projector and the monodromy relation for psu(2, 2-4) spin chains and reduction to subsectors, JHEP 09 (2015) 183
 [arXiv:1506.03203] [INSPIRE].
- Y. Kazama, S. Komatsu and T. Nishimura, Novel construction and the monodromy relation for three-point functions at weak coupling, JHEP 01 (2015) 095 [Erratum ibid. 1508 (2015) 145] [arXiv:1410.8533] [INSPIRE].
- [67] Y. Kazama and S. Komatsu, Three-point functions in the SU(2) sector at strong coupling, JHEP 03 (2014) 052 [arXiv:1312.3727] [INSPIRE].
- [68] E. Sobko, A new representation for two- and three-point correlators of operators from sl(2) sector, JHEP 12 (2014) 101 [arXiv:1311.6957] [INSPIRE].
- [69] A.V. Belitsky, S.E. Derkachov and A.N. Manashov, Quantum mechanics of null polygonal Wilson loops, Nucl. Phys. B 882 (2014) 303 [arXiv:1401.7307] [INSPIRE].
- [70] O. Foda, Y. Jiang, I. Kostov and D. Serban, A tree-level 3-point function in the SU(3)-sector of planar N = 4 SYM, JHEP 10 (2013) 138 [arXiv:1302.3539] [INSPIRE].
- [71] N. Gromov, V. Kazakov, S. Leurent and D. Volin, Quantum Spectral Curve for Planar $\mathcal{N} =$ super-Yang-Mills Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. **112** (2014) 011602 [arXiv:1305.1939] [INSPIRE].
- [72] F.A. Smirnov, Quasiclassical study of form-factors in finite volume, hep-th/9802132
 [INSPIRE].
- [73] J. Cao, W.-L. Yang, K. Shi and Y. Wang, Nested off-diagonal Bethe ansatz and exact solutions of the SU(N) spin chain with generic integrable boundaries, JHEP 04 (2014) 143 [arXiv:1312.4770] [INSPIRE].

- [74] J. Cao, W. Yang, K. Shi and Y. Wang, Off-diagonal Bethe ansatz and exact solution of a topological spin ring, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 137201 [arXiv:1305.7328] [INSPIRE].
- [75] N.A. Slavnov, Multiple commutation relations in the models with gl(2|1) symmetry, Theor. Math. Phys. 189 (2016) 1624 [arXiv:1604.05343] [INSPIRE].
- [76] S.E. Derkachov, G.P. Korchemsky and A.N. Manashov, Baxter Q operator and separation of variables for the open SL(2, ℝ) spin chain, JHEP 10 (2003) 053 [hep-th/0309144] [INSPIRE].
- S.E. Derkachov and A.N. Manashov, Noncompact sl(N) spin chains: BGG-resolution, Q-operators and alternating sum representation for finite dimensional transfer matrices, Lett. Math. Phys. 97 (2011) 185 [arXiv:1008.4734] [INSPIRE].
- [78] R. Frassek, T. Lukowski, C. Meneghelli and M. Staudacher, Baxter Operators and Hamiltonians for 'nearly all' Integrable Closed gl(n) Spin Chains, Nucl. Phys. B 874 (2013) 620 [arXiv:1112.3600] [INSPIRE].
- [79] S.Z. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Bethe vectors for models based on the super-Yangian $Y(\mathfrak{gl}(m|n))$, arXiv:1604.02311 [INSPIRE].
- [80] A. Hutsalyuk, A. Liashyk, S.Z. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Form factors of the monodromy matrix entries in gl(2-1)-invariant integrable models, Nucl. Phys. B 911 (2016) 902 [arXiv:1607.04978] [INSPIRE].
- [81] A. Hutsalyuk, A. Liashyk, S.Z. Pakuliak, É. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, Scalar products of Bethe vectors in models with gl(2|1) symmetry 2. Determinant representation, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 034004 [arXiv:1606.03573] [INSPIRE].
- [82] E. Frenkel, Affine algebras, Langlands duality and Bethe ansatz, q-alg/9506003 [INSPIRE].
- [83] A. Chervov and D. Talalaev, Quantum spectral curves, quantum integrable systems and the geometric Langlands correspondence, hep-th/0604128 [INSPIRE].
- [84] E. Frenkel, S. Gukov and J. Teschner, Surface Operators and Separation of Variables, JHEP 01 (2016) 179 [arXiv:1506.07508] [INSPIRE].
- [85] D. Talalaev, Quantization of the Gaudin system, hep-th/0404153 [INSPIRE].
- [86] A. Alexandrov, V. Kazakov, S. Leurent, Z. Tsuboi and A. Zabrodin, *Classical tau-function for quantum spin chains*, *JHEP* 09 (2013) 064 [arXiv:1112.3310] [INSPIRE].
- [87] A. Mironov, A. Morozov, B. Runov, Y. Zenkevich and A. Zotov, Spectral Duality Between Heisenberg Chain and Gaudin Model, Lett. Math. Phys. 103 (2013) 299 [arXiv:1206.6349] [INSPIRE].
- [88] A. Gorsky, A. Zabrodin and A. Zotov, Spectrum of Quantum Transfer Matrices via Classical Many-Body Systems, JHEP 01 (2014) 070 [arXiv:1310.6958] [INSPIRE].
- [89] E. Mukhin, V. Tarasov and A. Varchenko, Bispectral and (gl_N, gl_M) dualities, math/0510364.
- [90] E. Mukhin, V. Tarasov, A. Varchenko, Bispectral and (gl_N, gl_M) dualities, discrete versus differential, Adv. Math. **218** (2008) 216 [math/0605172].
- [91] A. Gorsky, I. Krichever, A. Marshakov, A. Mironov and A. Morozov, Integrability and Seiberg-Witten exact solution, Phys. Lett. B 355 (1995) 466 [hep-th/9505035] [INSPIRE].